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DEFINITIONS
B

”

“associate(s)

i INI

“Articles of Association”
[EZR2408) ]

“Board”

[Exg]

“BVI”
[RERRES

“Company” or“ QX Paper”

VNI AR:3E

”

“connected person(s)

[BEAL

”

“Director(s)

==

“Group”,” QX Group”,
“we”, " our” or” us”

[AEE S HEEHE ]

“HK$”
[a7t]

“Hong Kong”
[ &%

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EMRAME T Z&%E

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time
to time)
RRARZ BEBERMA(ETEHERT)

the board of Directors

559

the British Virgin Islands
RERYES

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
HEMAEERAERAR  —HERSHSEMKRIZBRAR - HE
TP B R P E AR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EMRRIFET 2 8E

director(s) of the Company

ZA/NI)=-=

the Company and its subsidiaries

ZAN/NIDS B ]

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEEEE®

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEBEBFRITTHR
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DEEINITIONS A
B

“Listing Rules” 8 the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
[ AR Al (B AZFTRE %5 LR A

“Model Code” 8 the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
[1Z%E=<FA ] Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

EHRAMER10 B LT RAREFETESF XS ZFETRD

“PRC” i1 the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual
[FET report, shall exclude Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

REARHANE  pAFRMS - TEEEE - PERFISHITHER

R&E

“QX Securities Dealing Code”™  #§ a securities dealing code adopted by the Company on 8 September

[BEE2FS5EBETH] 2007 (as amended from time to time) on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code
ARRARZEZEFNLANBERZ(BHFEETA)(ETEERT)

EARRAEIRETRI TR

“RMB” 8 Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

[ARE ] AR - pBUEEES

“SFO” i1 the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
[ 757 & B E 1501 Hong Kong)

BBEDIE 571 E(EHF LGRS

“Shandong QX” g Shandong Qunxing Paper Limited*, a limited liability company

[UREEE | established in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company
IWRBEAEBRRAR  —HARPEKIZBERAR - WARRAZ
2 &M BAR]

“Stock Exchange” &  The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ BsE 22 i | BEBBMER AR

Annual Report 2012 F i§ 7



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“substantial shareholder(s)” it has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
[ 2R ] BA LA T 2 RE

“tonne” 8§ a metric tonne, equivalent to 1,000 kilograms

[ g | —RWE - HER 1,000 2T

“%” ¥ percent.

[ %] AL

* for identification purpose only
EHEF

‘-‘ 8 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited 2 E X X2 KR ER 2 7



FINANCIAL HIGHRIGHTS A
B2

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 Change
AREFT AEEFT boE)
Operating Results RE G
Turnover R 1,880,407 2,003,651 -6.2%
Gross profit EAH 206,979 326,910 -36.7%
Profit from operations SR T 109,977 256,183 -57.1%
Profit attributable to equity 135 R% 5 fE (5 75,253 021,968 66.1%
shareholders i )
Per Share Data BREE
Basic earnings per share  &MRERZF| 5 14 -64.3%
(RMB cents) (ANRED)
Dividend per share FRARE 1.229 3.380 -63.6%
(HK cents) (L)
— Final dividend — RHRR B 1.229 3.380
— Interim dividend — HHEIRE = -
Financial Position B ISR IR
Total assets BERE 3,345,282 3,316,004 +0.8%
Cash and cash equivalents & MRS ZEEY 539,535 488,934 +10.3%
Total liabilities BERE 110,991 113,608 -2.3%
Total equity HEERE 3,234,291 3,202,396 +1.0%
Financial Ratios Mgt =
Gross profit margin FEH = 11.0% 16.3% -5.3% pts
B
Net profit margin Fom ) R 4.0% 11.1% -7.1% pts
B
Return on assets BERRE 2.2% 6.7% -4.5% pts
ERai
Return on equity 1 2 [B] ¥ 5 2.3% 6.9% -4.6% pts
Ebak
Current ratio MENtE = 6.4 5.4 +1 times
&
Quick ratio B & 6.0 5.0 +1 times
&
Gearing ratio BEEBEBERE 0% 0% Nil
ieed

VAR

Annual Report 2012 £ 9



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of QX Paper, | hereby present
the audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2012, the global economy was perplexed by the
sovereign debt crisis in Europe and the financial cliff
in the United States. In comparison to the global
economy, the Chinese economy maintained sound
growth momentum despite its slowing economic
growth. According to the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, the country’s gross domestic product (GDP)
for 2012 amounted to RMB51.9 ftrillion, representing a
growth of 7.8%, which decelerated from 2011.

Although the real estate market showed signs of
recovery during the year, the sales of floor space of
commodity housing only recorded a slight increase of
1.8% to 1,113.04 million square metres largely due to
central government’s property curbs. This represented
a decline of 2.6 percentage points in sales growth from
2011, exerting pressure on the demand for decorative
items and in turn relatively significant effect on the
business of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group recorded a turnover of RMB1,880,407,000,
representing a decrease of 6.2% from the turnover of
RMB2,003,651,000 for the same period in 2011. Gross
profits dropped from approximately RMB326,910,000
in 2011 by 36.7% to approximately RMB206,979,000
in 2012. In 2012, profits declined by 66.1% to
RMB75,253,000. Basic earnings per share was RMB5
cents (2011: RMB14 cents). The Board recommends
distribution of final dividends of HK1.229 cents per
share (2011: HK3.38 cents).

B SRR

AAERRHEAXETEERAEERE
T HF+T A=t HUIEFENKEZEF

ES e

T ZFHRESKEEE R ERRE
RE2HAEHE - HEIRIEE - BEPRLE
BREE  BNREREERYH - FEER
GHPAM T —EBRRNERNEELE
BARES198 BT BR7.8% R
T——FREE -

MEFHETESRFAEEERTR  Bm
FHEMBLEZFRHEEM LET18%E
111,304 BF 75K - TEARNF REFHHIF
WERMS  HERRBR_-_Z——F0O5%261@
BoE - HEMERSRA RO T KB —EE
N AEBEFANEHE T BELANTE

BHE-_Z——F+-_A=1+—BItFE K&
Bz &8s AR1,880,407,0007T @ 8=
T-—FRPEEFEHARK2,003,651,000
TR TEA6.2%  EFH-_T——FHA
K % 326,910,000 7T % 2 36.7% & = F — =
FHAREE206,979,0007C °c —F— —F i Al
B0 66.1% = AR # 75,253,000 7T © & % &
KEFABARESH(ZE——F: AR¥14
D)  EEERBRERAKREFTRK1.22981
(ZZF——%F :3.38781l) -
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Decrease in profits of the Group during the year was
mainly attributable to (1) decrease in overall sales
volume, leading to an increase in the fixed cost shared
by each tonne of products and therefore a decrease
in the gross profit margin; (2) loss from disposal of
the legacy Production line no. 2 upon completion of
reconstruction and commencement of commercial
production of Production line no. 2 in March 2012; (3)
increment in administrative expense resulting from the
Company’s measures to investigate audit issues raised
by its former auditors and (4) increase in income tax
expenses as compared to the same period last year as
the tax concession entitled by the Group as a foreign
investment enterprise expired at the end of 2011.

SALES PERFORMANCE

During the year under review, the Group’s products
recorded decrease in the overall sales volume,
which mainly reflected customers’ more prudent
approach to placing orders under the influence of
the macroeconomy, as well as the direct impact of
intensifying competition in the PRC’s decorative base
paper market on the sales revenue of the Group.
Despite their completion of reconstruction in the fourth
quarter of 2011 and their additional contribution to the
production capacity, Production lines nos. 1 and 2
would be unable to help invigorate sales growth in the
short term.

During the year, the overall sales volume of the Group
dropped from 164,202 tonnes for the same period
last year by approximately 3.5% to 158,405 tonnes of
2012. Of this, the sales volume of our major product
decorative base paper was down by 8.4% from
142,480 tonnes of 2011 to 130,529 tonnes of 2012,
whereas the average sales price maintained at a steady
level. In 2012, the sales revenue of decorative base
paper shrunk by 8.3%, accounting for 90.7% of the
total turnover.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMEN']

EERESF

FR-AREMNETHR  TBRES (1) BEH
BN (EEMRE AT 2 BERANIE I -
WMEHERNKTE : QF2REERN_-ZF
—HE-ABRERIERABRRLEER  BRE
ERNFE2RAEERESFERE  QTTHRE
AEARARRAEH ERBA R 2 EAFE
PITVEH BV 8245 T B PTIE I0 % (4) NS B E SN 2
BEXRERBBZINBEEIENR _T——FK
A FTERASES EFRB LI -

HERR

BEAFER  AEEEMNEEBHEGH TE -
TERRZELERETZET  BPRIEE
EBNEE - MEPBEEHRATSHTHB
MR BERFEASENHERA - #ARFE
RE2HRAEERENR_ZE——FENFTKE
i BINERECIBAIRALE - BRHATR
EHHEER

FR AEEEBHEHEEAEZFRAEAN
164,202M8 T Bk #935%%E — T — — F i
158,405 - HPA X ZEmEMHRAEES
BT ——F 142480 TR L 8.4%E - F
— % 130,529 - FIIHEERAERNIZ
FEARKF o« ZF—ZF  HERAFEEKRARD
8.3% ' 1HHREHEREI0.7% ©
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBES

EXPANSION OF PRODUCTION CAPACITY

After completion of reconstruction in the fourth quarter
of 2011, the Group’s Production lines nos. 1 and 2
commenced commercial production in March 2012.
The additional production capacity mainly concentrates
on high-end decorative base paper products. On the
other hand, reconstruction of Production line no. 3 on
the relocation site selected by the Group in May 2012
continued to proceed, and was expected to complete
in the fourth quarter of 2013. The reconstruction of
Production line no. 3 was aimed at enhancing the
production techniques and preparing ahead for long-
term development. The existing Production line no. 3
would maintain operation during the reconstruction
period.

SOPHISTICATED DISTRIBUTION
CHANNELS

Currently, the Group has set foot in six retail sales
regions in the PRC, namely Shandong, Sichuan,
Guangdong, Beijing, Jiangsu and Zhejiang. The
Company boasts a sophisticated distribution network
and its clientele comes from 13 provinces, autonomous
regions and municipalities in the PRC.

VERSATILE PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

The Group strives to develop widely applicable and
quality decorative base paper products. At present,
the Group produces and retails over 80 types of
products catering to different markets. Products of the
Group are suitable for a broad range of applications,
ranging from furniture and office and home products to
interior decorations of large facilities such as stadiums,
community halls, exhibition centres, as well as vehicles
and aircrafts. The Group will continue to enhance
sales of high-end decorative paper base products to
increase its profits.

BrER
AEER-_Z——FENEFEERNEEZNEIR
FoRAER DR E——_F-ZARAEE
HE - EMNERNARENERNSEENHRA
ERAE B AEEBRZ-ZT—Z=-FHA
PHNEN FEFEIRLEEREERTT  BHER
ZE-=FENFNEHRT c EEFIRAE
BETRAZRERMN  REAREERIELI
E -RENEIREESNERIMMNENSE
BIE -

LR 7 $H3RIE

AEBEBRAEPERE6EBEEE - 25T
RAEPBEILR - @I BER- bR T&E N
T o REBEMERAND B BEPEMT
13fEE D - BARKLEET °

ZRENERES
AEE-BERIRERERZNEEENR
MEMm AREENHEBSOBEEMR - KD
AEMENTARE - ARBEZEMERBER
B HPEERE BMAZERFKEMAR UE
REEBMMNEEE  HEEE RESERA
EMRHEER TANAMEMNHITER - K
SETSEEENDERHRAERNHELL
5l AERE&EA -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group places high emphasis on environmental
protection. High-end wood pulp used to produce
decorative base paper products causes almost zero
environmental pollution during the production process.
At present, we have two waste water treatment
systems with a total annual processing capacity of
approximately 5,350,000 cubic metres. Waste water
after treatment is reused for irrigation at the Group’s
production base in Shandong.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT AND
INVESTIGATION REPORT

During the year, the Group made its best efforts to
strengthen its internal audit system and engaged an
independent professional firm at the end of 2011 to
investigate audit matters raised by its ex-auditor and
to make further report on the audit and investigation.
The relevant investigation report was submitted to The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 30 November 2012. On 28 February
2013, the Stock Exchange sent its comments on the
Company’s submission dated 10 January 2013. The
Company replied on 15 March 2013 and is awaiting
the response of the Stock Exchange to the replies. The
Group is aware of the concerns raised by shareholders
and investors about the Group’s internal audit and
control functions. We hereby reiterate that the Group is
conducting its business as usual. The Group will make
further announcement in due course to inform the
shareholders of the progress of the investigation.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT A
EFREHRES

RIGRE
EE+HIERARETE  ROEERHR
REMEMERNBSHAE  EEEBRS

Y2 TEEIRBIEKSR © I NEE
B EAMESKEIEZRG & AT EEL

5,350,000 5K 57K o EAREESKBRER
RRIBENSKERERAER LREEE
ERRFRKIR

BUYEERAERE

FA- AKERRAL 0058 E A AP EZE H
B ¥R -_FT——FREZE-"RBILUEXER
A LNRAEAERBIRE 2B EERIESE
—TEERAERS - EHRATHECR-F
—ZHE+-AZTHERXRTEABMARZMA
RAR(BRA]) BXAR_T—=F—=
AZtN\BRERARZZE—=F—A+BM
RRXOXHFELER  AABER-FT—=F
ZAThRERE REFFBRIMAEDE
{EOIE - AEBEEBRRRMREEHAEER
MEZLEETHENRE - RAZLRBFLE
B-EHEEE  AREHNEEFREER
F o NAERRATHER -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBES

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the property sector cooling measures
imposed by the Central Government of China will likely
remain unchanged despite the uncertainty in the global
and China’s economies in the near future. However,
the “12th Five-year Plan” states that more public and
government subsidised housing will be built, which
will continue to be one of the major policies during the
five-year period. Such policy environment is expected
to continue to lend support to the decorative base
paper market. Moreover, sustained stable growth of
China’s economy in the long run, continued active and
steady progress of urbanisation, as well as continually
rising national income, will continue to fuel the demand
for commercial houses and in turn decorative base
paper products. Building on the Group’s high-end
technologies in producing decorative base paper
products and its solid foundation, the Board is
cautiously optimistic towards the business growth of
the Group in 2013.

In face of a more challenging market environment,
the Group will continue to enhance its product quality
through improvements of production facilities, and to
increase its market share through enhancements of
goodwill. Furthermore, paralleled to the consolidation
of market leadership and customer base in existing
sales regions, the Group will also strive to tap into
new markets. On top of these, the Group will continue
to fine tune its product portfolio and increase the
sales weight and market share of high-end products
with higher gross profit margins. Lastly, the Group
will consistently implement stringent cost control
measures, including controlling procurement costs, in
order to increase the gross profit margin of products
and in turn deliver better returns for our shareholders.

Bl 5

REARK - FEEBIRET BB A KA
ARDHERE - PR REUTHEIN 2 5 E I EE
MERARAIBEMEI A E - AT T+ A HE ]
BEZRARBAMUEFEES TERZ » X&R
hEHENEBERBHBEZ — - AABER
RIRMAS B S RARA TS o 1o - hE
RERERBREER - SHE(CREBBZ D
# - BERPEAFERT  REBEDEREIA
ERMREREMNTR - BEAEELEEERHN
REERNEHEMEBELER  EFGHA
SEE T -FHNXBERFERE -

EERFRRABNLLERE - AEEHEE
BANERBELEEREANE-—FRAERE
B UHEFMBAKENHERENT SN
B HR AEEEZERAHSHENOTIS
BEMU L FEPERNFER - T8 BB
BIRAEINHE - R0 - REBERSEEREE
mA  EMENEESNEERERZHE
HERMISNE - &&  AEESEFHNTER
REVANIEBIIE IE - BIEIEHIRBAA - &M
REBEMWENE » SERREREEEDR
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express our sincere
gratitude to the management and staff for their hard
work and contributions, and thank our shareholders,
business partners and investors for their support during
the year.

é, l

ZHU Yu Guo & %[
Chairman /=

Shandong, the PRC, 18 March 2013
FEILE —E—=F=AF+/\H

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT A
EEBREE
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EBEERH R EENIFRREN °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

The following discussion and analysis should be read
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements of our Group as at and for the year ended
31 December 2012 and the accompanying notes set
out in this annual report.

OVERVIEW

Our Group is principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of decorative base paper products and
printing paper product. As ranked by China Paper
Association, our Group is the largest decorative base
paper manufacturer in terms of the actual annual
production capacity in the PRC since 2005.

During the year under review, we are continuing
to expand the production capacity and improve
the technical know-how in the provision of quality
decorative base paper products to our customers.

Our turnover decreased by approximately 6.2% from
RMB2,003.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2011 to RMB1,880.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2012.

Our profit before taxation decreased by approximately
57.1% from RMB256.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2011 to RMB110.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Starting from 2009, our profit from operation in the
PRC is subject to a reduced PRC income tax rate of
12.5% for three years till 31 December 2011. Since 1
January 2012, our applicable PRC income tax rate is
25%. Our taxation for the years ended 31 December
2011 and 2012 were RMB34.2 million and RMB34.7
million respectively.

FERIE TS i EOMTES - B —HF 2B AFR
ﬁﬁ\JZ$§%f%f§—_¢+ A=1t—8Bx&
BEZA ILFEZREZEAMERE MK
ZHIEE -

BmE

AR E B RS K H S KA R AR E mm M E)
RIMERER - RERFERTE  AREBE=
TELFEETFHERBEFRTRAKRNZE
B R AR B

REEEEFER - RAEEERER  RAFER
MADE  BOREFPREEBEARMHRAER

AEEEXEBHREZE T ——F+=A=1—
BHIFFE AR 2,003,700,000 7T T £#96.2%
EHE-_ZT——Ft+-_A=+—HILEEAR
# 1,880,400,000 T °

AEBBRBAENAEBEE-_SE—F+=A
=+—HILFEARY 256,200,000 7T T &4
5T1%EHE_T——F+_A=+—HIF
fE AR# 110,000,000 7T °

B-ZETNFHG  AEE2PBREEENEA
REBRMEA12.5% BMPBIFTEH - ﬁﬁﬂ E
T——F+-A=+—Hit-B=
A—BRK  AEBEBEZRERBE 25%?%&
MPEMREHR - BE-_T——FR-T—-F
+_H:+fE|¢¢F£ CAEBEZBESRA
AR 34,200,000 7t & A ¥ 34,700,000 7T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ~

Our net profit attributable to the shareholders
decreased by approximately 66.1% from RMB222.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2011 to
RMB75.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2012.

The basic earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2012 were RMB14 cents and
RMB5 cents, respectively. The decrease in the basic
earnings per share was mainly attributable to the
decrease in net profit attributable to the shareholders
for the year ended 31 December 2012.

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years

Our production capacity has been expanded
significantly in recent years through establishing new
production facilities as well as re-engineering and
modifying the existing production facilities with a view
to improving the production efficiency. With the highly
automated production facilities at our production base
located in Zouping County, Binzhou City, Shandong
Province, the PRC, we are able to provide one-stop
service for a wide range of decorative base paper
products.

BEEENWRT T

AEBRRELANBEE_S—F+=A
—+t—BHIFE 2 AR 222,000,0007T &
H66I%EHE_ET——_F+_-_A=1+—H1
FE 2z AR 75,300,0007T °

HE_T——Fk=_T—=-F+=H=+—H
EFE SREXBFIINABARE 149 K
ARESD - BREAXZFN TR ETEAEHE
—E——F+ A=t BULFERRENL
A o

MFEERZREA

BBRTEERNE - AREBNREEREE
EREARSLEENE  KAEBZERIFE
NBEREA - AEERNFEILREEMNTH
FReEEAWREBEREBBCZEERNE -
EAEESARFESEUEMREERZ
LR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

The following table sets forth our designed annual
production capacity as of the dates indicated.

TREIIFR AR EE 2 R FESRE ©

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-H
Date of
Production = commencement
line no. of commercial 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
EERE production BELEEZHBAS ZEEN\E ZEThE CE-TF CE--F CE-ZF
(unit: tonnes)
(Ef : W)

1 March 2012 —E-—%=f 10,000 10,000 10,000 ~ — e ) 30,000
2 March 2012 —E-—f=R 20,000 20,000 20,000 ~ —M@H 30,000
3 May 2003 —TT=FHA 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
4 August 2004 “TTMENA 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000
5 April 2006 “ETAENA 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
6 April 2006 “TTEMA 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
7 March 2008 “TT\F=R 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
8 March 2009 “TTNE=A 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
9 April 2009 “ZTNFMA 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
10 December 2009 ~ZETAF+ A - 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
11 December 2009 —FTAF+-A - 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
12 October 2010 —T-TF+A - - 30,000 30,000 30,000
13 October 2010 —T-TF+A - - 30,000 30,000 30,000

260,000 320,000 380,000 350,000 410,000
Note: Hist -
1. Production lines nos. 1 and 2 commenced rebuilding 1. FIRFEOHAEEGER T —TSFNLAEH

in September 2010 and the commercial production
commenced in March 2012.

Subsequent to the commencement of the commercial
operation of Production lines nos. 1 and 2 in March
2012, the aggregate designed annual production
capacity of our Group is approximately 410,000
tonnes.

B MR- FZRAETEERLEE -

BRABRXEE AEBZARS

410,000 W& °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our Group believes that the increase in the production
capacity in recent years has strengthened our leading
market position and enhanced our competitiveness in
the market.

The production lines normally operate on a continuous
basis, subject to temporary stoppages, as and when
necessary, for the purposes of machine cleaning,
recalibration for different product specifications as
well as regular inspection and maintenance work
which generally lasts for, in aggregate, one to two
days each month and an annual maintenance which
lasts for about a week. As increases or decreases in
the equipment utilisation rates will have an impact on
the product volume and, thus, can have a significant
effect on the unit costs and gross profit margins, we
therefore plan the production schedules carefully so
as to minimise the shutdown time required for making
adjustments to the paper making machines for product
and specification changes.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

During the year under review, the sales of decorative
base paper products, our principal product, continued
to provide us a sustainable source of income. The
sales volumes of decorative base paper products
decreased by approximately 8.4% from 142,480
tonnes in 2011 to 130,529 tonnes in 2012 while the
average selling price increased by approximately 0.1%
from RMB13,056 per tonne in 2011 to RMB13,065
per tonne in 2012. Turnover of decorative base paper
products achieved RMB1,750.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2012, represented a decrease of
approximately 5.9% from RMB1,860.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

BEENWED T

AEEWRE OFERZ LACE-—FERR
SEZTISREMA - RAAEE 2 TIH 5T
j] o

HESR-REFEEFE BARSEBEK
2 AETREMMIBZREANETTERig
EREETEMEREE  THREREER
BEEAEEAHA_—EMA  MEEEE
Al RO —IE - AR RBER R ZIBRAGHE
BERTE  TEHBEMKARENTAEEKR
T8 REAKESHFARSEERY - WA
PRBEMMRR 2 BB M A BERERTT
ZIFERR -

Bt % B

¥R

REBEFEA RN ETZELREMREERZ
HEEBRBMEHAIFENKRARIR - &
MRAEMAEEEH T ——F/ 142,480
WA TP #478.4% 2 — T — — HFH) 130,529 1
FHEBAHR-_T——FFHARK 13,056
TENHOANRE_T——_FFWARE
13,0657 - HE-_ZET——F+-_A=+—8H
LtFE RHREERNEEREIARE
1,750,400,0007C - B#EE=—FT——F+=A
=+—HIEFE ARY1,860,200,000 7T 5% 4
#45.9% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Nonetheless the average selling price of printing
paper product decreased by approximately 4.9% from
RMB6,602 per tonne in 2011 to RMB6,278 per tonne
in 2012, turnover of printing paper product increased
by approximately 22.0% from RMB143.4 million in
2011 to RMB175.0 million in 2012 was mainly due to
exploration of new customers during the year where
the sales volume of printing paper product increased
by approximately 28.3% from 21,722 tonnes in 2011
to 27,876 tonnes in 2012.

The overall turnover for the year ended 31 December
2012 decreased by approximately 6.2% from
RMB2,003.7 million in 2011 to RMB1,880.4 million in
2012.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents the production costs of goods
sold during the year. Our production costs comprise
costs of raw materials, direct labour costs and
manufacturing overheads, which include depreciation
charges, utility expenses, consumables, repairs and
maintenance and other overhead related expenses.

Cost of sales decreased by approximately 0.2% from
RMB1,676.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2011 to RMB1,673.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2012. The decrease in cost of sales was
primarily due to the combined effects of (i) a decrease
in the aggregate raw materials consumed, which are
the major component of our cost of sales, as a result
of the decreased sales volume in decorative base
paper products, (i) a decrease in unit purchasing cost
of wood pulp and an increase in unit purchasing cost
of titanium dioxide powder, our principal raw materials
for production during the year ended 31 December
2012 (as discussed below); and (i) an increase in
depreciation expenses due to the commercial operation
of rebuilt Production lines nos. 1 and 2 since March
2012.

BEORAEKERNFEHEEBR _T—F
BHEARK6,602TT THRYO4INE-T—=
FEMEARY6,278 0 (BEIRIAKE RO E
¥%AIA =T ——F AR 143,400,000 jT 1%
n#22.0% = -2 ——F AR 175,000,000
T FERARFRARFRSE - FHR ALK
EmMEEEmR T ——F21, 722 N4
28.3% 2T — 427,876 M °

BE-_T——H+-A=1+—"BHLFEE
BREXBARDA62% BT ——FAR
#2,003,700,000 LM E T ——F AR
1,880,400,000 7T °

HERA

HERAENFALEEMIEEMAN - A&
Bz EERANBRERHMAALN  BEERBETIXAR
SUERA - BRITEER 2REXER H
M BEREREALEMBRBAE RN -

HERARBEE-_T——F+-A=+—HIL
FE AR ¥1,676,700,0007T 5 L #0.2% &
BT —F+_A=t+t—HIEFEZAR
¥ 1,673,400,0007T » SHEKNBR L ETER A
Tﬂﬁ%ZﬁéwE%ﬁ (VERARERZH
ERAEBHD 2 RERAFERESREEMHRRKE
miHE ETBEFﬁﬁ/W’J\ iR+
A=+—BHLFE £EMBEZFRERHAARED
BB T - LARIKBE N A B EREK
RER(EXSE/E@M)  R(i)iiTEEAITHE
KRERZE1IRFE2RAEERN _T——F=
RAREITREEAEMIEM o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Principal raw materials

Our results of operations are subject to price
fluctuations of raw materials used in the production
process. The principal raw materials for our production
are wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder.

For each of the two years ended 31 December 2011
and 2012, the purchase of wood pulp amounted
to approximately RMB572.4 million and RMB520.5
million, respectively, representing approximately 34.1%
and 31.1% of the total cost of sales for the respective
years. The decrease is due to the combined effect
of (i) a decrease in the average purchase price (value
added tax inclusive) of wood pulp by approximately
5.9% from approximately RMB6,514 per tonne in 2011
to RMB6,130 per tonne in 2012; and (i) a decrease
in usage of wood pulp as a result of the decrease in
sales volume of decorative base paper products.

For each of the two years ended 31 December
2011 and 2012, the purchase of titanium dioxide
powder amounted to approximately RMB544.0 million
and RMB559.0 million, respectively, representing
approximately 32.4% and 33.4% of the total cost of
sales for the respective years. The increase is mainly
due to the combined effect of (i) an increase in the
average purchase price (value added tax inclusive)
of titanium dioxide by approximately 12.2% from
approximately RMB15,787 per tonne in 2011 to
RMB17,720 per tonne in 2012; and (i a decrease
in the usage of titanium dioxide as a result of the
decreased sales volume in decorative base paper
products.

Depreciation charges

During the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2012,
our depreciation charges included in cost of sales
increased by approximately 17.5% from RMB194.7
million in 2011 to RMB228.7 million in 2012, was
mainly due to the commercial operation of rebuilt
Production lines nos. 1 and 2 since March 2012.

BEENWED T

FERH
REXEXHTNANEEBREZ RAHERZK
B HEMB 2T EREARERIKEH

HE_T——Fk=_T——F+=HA=+—H
LEREFEST  BEAESFIEENARE
572,400,000 7T & A K ¥ 520,500,000 7T * 14
BFEHEEERARLB4.1% K% 31.1% ° B2
ERTIERRZGEETEMY : (\RE 2T
KEE(EREEEN ) BT ——FEHHAR
B B6,514 7L N5 9% E T — —FBHELH
AREEG,1307T  R()AREZ A EREEMR
BERBEESR DM NF -

HE_ZT——Fk_FT——-F+H=+—H
IMEFEST  BEROMIREENAR
& 544,000,000 7T & A & % 559,000,000 7T
HEFEBHEEXNALI2.4% K%33.4%  F
AEERAATIAZZGFETENE : ()X
BN FHIREE(REEER ) A" ——F
BMHARKEAS787 T EFAH122%E =&
——FEBWEHARE17,7207T + R ()KAH
ZHERAEBEMRAEREER DM T -

wEEHR
HE-_ZT——Fk-T—-F+-A=+—H
IEFE  sFABEERAZITEERAH _T——
F AR® 194,700,000 LML 17.56% E =&
— —F AR# 228,700,000t ' #ENEERHA
BRERZEFIRF2REEFERN _T—ZF
“RARETREEEEM -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Utilities and steam expenses

During the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2012, our electricity and steam expenses decreased
by approximately 2.5% from RMB163.5 million in
2011 to RMB159.4 million in 2012, were mainly due
to the combined effect of i) a decrease in utilisation
of electricity and steam as a result of decrease in
production volume under the decrease in sales; and ii)
the inadequate local supply of electricity and steam in
the second half of 2011 while no such situation existed
in 2012. The electricity and steam expenses accounted
for approximately 9.8% and 9.5% of the total cost of
sales for the respective years.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of our Group decreased by
approximately 36.7% from RMB326.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2011 to RMB207.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2012. The following table
sets forth the gross profit margin of each category of
the products for the two years ended 31 December
2011 and 2012:

AABERRAER
HE-_ZT——4FEKkFE——-F+=H=1+—H
HtFE BAREARBAA-_ZT—FAR
¥ 163,500,000 T, D K1 2.6% E T ——F
AR #159,400,0007C * MAPEBHK THEA
EVRAVERR  )EAREKAFEAEMHE
ERSERNEERLT TR RI)RZT——
FTHFHFENRERBETR MRZE
——FIWREHREER  EHREARERD
AMEEFERHENA49.8% & 9.5% °

ENREF=E
AEBEZEMREZE T —F+=ZA=1—
B ItFE 2z AR #326,900,0007T T & 4
BI%EHE_T——F+_-_A=+—8ItF
B2 AR#207,000,0007T - TREFEE=
E——FRZFE——FF+A=1T—HILME
FESERERZERNE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-ZA=+t—BHLHFE

2012 2011
Products Em —E——F —T——%F
Decorative base paper products H&iREER
— Premium coloured decorative — RIEEEEMRA
base paper Ef 17.8% 27.5%
— Premium white decorative base — SEECEMRA
paper E 10.7% 15.2%
— Ordinary coloured decorative — TRACEMRA
base paper Em 2.7% 16.1%
Sub-total INET 11.6% 17.2%
Printing paper product ENR A E R 7.0% 5.2%
Overall et 11.0% 16.3%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The change in overall gross profit margin of our
decorative base paper products in 2012 was mainly
attributable to the decrease in sales volume, changes
in raw material costs and increased depreciation
charges as discussed above where the economies of
scales cannot be achieved. As a result, the average
unit cost for decorative base paper products was
comparative higher for the year ended 31 December
2012 and the gross profit margins were affected.

The gross profit margin of printing paper product
increased from 5.2% in 2011 to 7.0% in 2012 was
mainly due to the expansion of clientele during
2012 where the economies of scale in operating the
printing paper product segment improved. The Group
will continue to solicit new customers with an aim
to effectively utilize the resources of the Group to
maximize the returns for shareholders.

As a result, our overall gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 16.3% for the year ended 31
December 2011 to approximately 11.0% for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Other revenue and other net loss

Other revenue, which represented mainly the interest
income earned from the bank deposits, decreased
by approximately 31.3% from RMB3.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2011 to RMB2.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2012 was mainly due
to the decrease in average cash held on hand after
the settlement of construction costs for rebuilding
Production lines nos. 1 and 2 and the distribution of
2012 final dividend.

Upon the commercial operation of rebuilt Production
line no. 2 in March 2012, the aged Production line no.
2 was disposed and a loss on disposal of RMB12.6
million was recognized during the year ended 31
December 2012.

BEEENWRT T

EMFREMN T _FHEBENXEY
ExmmiX%mW%Eﬁd C RE BN E B

MITEBREN - FHRMEFZEBGRRLER
HATE - Al KR REREE T ——F
TZA=T—BLEFENFHEMKEIRS -

EREARETE -

ERAEREROENEH = 9ﬁ<——$252%
EFAZEZTE—ZF27.0% FEHR=
——FARLIEN méﬂﬂ%%%%“*
WRERRBRENY - NEBEBEESE T
BEHEF  BRESNBAEENER - &
IR FHENER A B3R ©

ﬁ%'$ilﬁﬁ%ﬂmmﬁ§:%77¢
+- A=t —BLEEH163%BEEE
*:¢+_H:+*E¢¢EﬂHO%O

Hit = R Hfthg518 358

H AW a= Ty 4R IR1TIF RATBRE 2 R B A+ B
HE_Z—F+A=1+—HLFEZAR
¥ 3,200,000 TR P 41831.3% EHE T — =
FT+ZA=+—HIEFEMH AR 2,200,000
ﬁngm%$ﬁl%%ﬁéﬁﬁ1&”2%
SEBRZEEKARNTHFERSBL -
ERD IR ZE — ZFRER BT -

WE@%Z%E%@%_%—_iiﬂttﬁ
EELEER  EAENFE2RAEFCOLKE

RIS B ﬁféﬁ%/\ﬁﬁ%‘lZﬁO0,000Eﬁ@@i
T ZHFF+ A=t —HILFEERAR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Selling expenses

As at 31 December 2012, our sales and marketing
team continued to carry out various promotional
activities in an attempt to solicit new customers in the
six designated sales regions in the PRC. Our Group
incurred selling expenses of RMB25.5 million and
RMB28.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2011 and 2012, respectively. Our selling expenses
represented approximately 1.3% and 1.5% of turnover
for the two years ended 31 December 2011 and 2012.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses consist primarily of
administrative and management staff salaries and
benefits, depreciation of non-production related fixed
assets, research and development costs, and pension
contributions.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately
20.5% from RMB48.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2011 to RMB58.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2012 was mainly attributable
to the professional costs of approximately RMB8.8
million incurred in 2012 resulting from the Group’s
measures to investigate audit issues raised by the
former auditors. As a percentage of turnover, our
administrative expenses increased from approximately
2.4% for the year ended 31 December 2011 to
approximately 3.1% for the year ended 31 December
2012.

Finance costs
Our Group did not incur any finance costs during the
year ended 31 December 2011 and 2012.

Income tax
Members of the Group are incorporated in different
jurisdictions, with different taxation requirements.

HEMX
R-ZTE——F+-A=+—H8 KEBEZH
ELMGHEERSEETZHEEEE
BRRPRANEETCHELESKARES -
HE-ZT——FR-_FT—-F+=-A=+—H
HtFE AEEELENHERISIAAR
¥ 25,500,000 7T 2 A [ # 28,300,000 7T ° &
EFE——FRFE—-F+ZA=+—H8H1
MEFE  HERIDMHEETEL1.3% &
1.5% °

ITHRX
THRAXEIZERTHRAEEE T 2He MG
Mo SEEERBRETEEZITE AR MFEE
FRAS - ARGRIRE R -

TERYAEE—_ZET——F+_-_A=t+—HI1t
FE 2 AR 48,400,000 7T 1 1149 20.5% &=
HE-_Z——F+_A=+—"HLEFEZAR
¥ 58,300,000L ° EMEERZHRR T —=
FRAEBAESREZEEMRL 2 BN ETEA
EHBRE BB ER AL AR 8,800,000
TR - TBASEEERB A LHES
:?——E+:ﬂz+—atiﬁmm%ﬁ
3.1%

BhE A A
BE_T——Fh_FT-—-F+-HA=+—H
IFFE - REE W E A REKA -

FrigH
REE 2K E RRRARE RDEREREEMAL -
AR EDEERES TR RIEHRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS \

Shandong Qunxing, our principal operating subsidiary
in the PRC, had been exempted from PRC income tax
for the two years from 1 January 2007 to 31 December
2008, followed by a reduced PRC income tax rate at
12.5% for the remaining three years from 1 January
2009 to 31 December 2011 under the grandfathering
treatments of the Corporate Income Tax Law of the
PRC passed on 16 March 2007. As such, our Group
is liable to pay PRC income tax at the tax rate of
12.5% for the year ended 31 December 2011. Since 1
January 2012, our Group is subject to the PRC income
tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%.

No provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for 2011 and 2012 as the Group did not earn
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for
either year.

The effective tax rates of our Group for the year ended
31 December 2011 and 2012 were 13.3% and 31.5%,
respectively. The reconciliation between income tax
expenses and accounting profit at the applicable tax
rates was set out as follows:

EEENWED

RER-_ZZLF=AT A BRBZPELE
PISTAZ SERREIE - AEBERPH
ZIBEENBARILREER _TTLF—
A—BE_ZTENFT_A=1T—HWFHRE
HRHNTBEMAER  ARR-_ZZAF—A
—BE_T——F+_A=+—HHBT=FMH
1212.5% 2 BB RGP BIPTEHR o FithE
E-T——H+-A=1+—BLLFE ~KH
AR125% 2 RGP BEMABEHR - A -F
——H—-A—BE AEEARERRE25%
B BT -

ERAEEN S ——ER T ——FEWEH
BB B RSN 2 EaRBR A - B EF
BERZ2BEBNEGHA RS -

AEEHE-_ZT——FR=ZFT—=ZF+=A
EJF*EIJtErZaB/’%TRY’\/DJ'J?%TSS%&
31.5% - IBEAMEXHECFEHAT RS
HRA 2 EERIT ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HLHFE

2012 2011

—E-—fF —E——%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFTT ARBFT

Profit before taxation BR T A4 A 109,977 256,183
Notional tax on profit before taxation, IZHEARFREHAH RTE

calculated at the tax rates applicable BB ATHFZER

in the countries concerned 29,561 65,277

Tax effect of tax concession period HEEEHE RGBT E - (33,620)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR F Sz 2 Hifs 5/ 2 4,801 2,310

Tax effect of non-taxable income éEFE AW A BB E (127) (283)

Under provision in prior year BEFERETR 489 531

Income tax expenses for the year FREMEHRAX 34,724 34,215
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

The following table sets forth certain financial ratios of
our Group as of the date or for the year indicated.

ETEMHLER
TRIBAEEN TR B HRBEZE
IHFEZETFRBLE -

As of or for the years ended
31 December

R+=B=+—B%

BEZALEE

Note 2012 2011

Hfat —E-=F —E——fF
Profitability ratios ERgE N E
Gross profit margin EVIES 1 11.0% 16.3%
Net profit margin F o Al & 2 4.0% 11.1%
Return on assets BERHRE 3 2.2% 6.7%
Return on equity e 2% O] 3R =R 4 2.3% 6.9%
Liquidity ratios RBESLLE
Current ratio mENLE = 5 6.4 5.4
Quick ratio mEPLE = 6 6.0 5.0
Gearing ratio BEEAMBILE 7 0% 0%
Inventory turnover days GFEHEEREH 8 13 15
Debtors’ turnover days U BR SR E K B 9 10 13
Creditors’ turnover days FEAT BR U 8 R 10 24 23
Notes: HaE -
1. Gross profit margin is calculated based on the gross 1. EFRRUEFBRAEZELETRIA100%TE -

profit divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.

2. Net profit margin is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.

3. Return on assets is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by the total assets at the end of the
year and multiplied by 100%.

2. FEFERKFE R IR EZETEEA100%
iTE

3. BELREUAFEGEFBRUAFREELERE
LA100% 5H& -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Return on equity is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by capital and reserves at the end of
the year and multiplied by 100%.

Current ratio is calculated based on the total current
assets divided by the total current liabilities at the end
of the year.

Quick ratio is calculated based on the difference
between the total current assets and the inventories
divided by the total current liabilities at the end of the
year.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total bank
borrowings divided by total assets and multiplied by
100%.

Inventory turnover days is calculated based on the
inventory at the end of the year divided by the total
purchases during the year and multiplied by the number
of days during the year.

Debtors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade
receivables at the end of the year divided by turnover
during the year and multiplied by the number of days
during the year.

Creditors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade
payables at the end of the year divided by the total
purchases during the year and multiplied by the number
of days during the year.

Current and quick ratio
As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, the current ratios
of the Group were 5.4 and 6.4 and the quick ratios of

the Group were 5.0 and 6.0, respectively.

Gearing ratio
As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, the Group did not
have any outstanding bank borrowings and the gearing

ratio was 0.0%.

BEEENWRT T

4, EDOMEURNFERFIBRAFRE AR FEE
FLA100% 5T E -

5 ROLEUFRRBEELERINFERREEA
BREFHE -

6. RIYPUEXUFRRYDEELEHRFEZEZBE
NWERTEBEEETNE

7. BEABHLEIRITRE? BIAEEBET
LA100% 5tE -

8. THEHEEBXHUFRGERUAFTEHERRE
FUARFEARBGTHE -

9. BEUEBERBEEREUAFREWERBRAREE
BEBRINAFEAKREGE -

10. ENEFAEXSEUFREMERIGUAFE
%%WﬁﬁMKEEWi@aﬁc

B EREEEFE

R_BE——FR_FE——F+-_A=+—8"

AREBRSELEDRAE.4%6.4  MAEER

B EBID R A5.0%6.0c

BEESELE

RZF——FRZF-—ZF+ZA=+—8H"

AEEWBERAEERTERE  BEREL
£70.0% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Return on assets

The return on assets decreased from 6.7% for the
year ended 31 December 2011 to 2.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2012. The decrease in return on
assets for the year ended 31 December 2012 was
mainly attributable to the decrease in our turnover
and increase in our cost of sales, other net loss and
administrative expenses as discussed above.

Return on equity

The return on equity for the years ended 31 December
2011 and 2012 were approximately 6.9% and 2.3%
respectively. The decrease in return on equity for the
year ended 31 December 2012 was mainly attributable
to the decrease in turnover and increase in cost of
sales, other net loss and administrative expenses.

Inventories and the inventory turnover days

Our inventory level decreased by approximately
22.7% from approximately RMB53.4 milion as at 31
December 2011 to approximately RMB41.3 million
as at 31 December 2012. Nonetheless, the inventory
turnover days maintained at 15 and 13 days for the
year ended 31 December 2011 and 2012 respectively
which proved that we have effectively implemented our
inventory control policy and measures over the past
years.

It is our Group s practice to purchase sufficient
amount of raw materials based on the production
schedule and to keep one week s inventory of raw
materials in storage. For finished products, it is our
Group’ s practice to keep minimal stock of finished
products in our storage warehouse to satisfy any
customer’ s urgent demand. Our Group may also keep
reserve stock of finished products at times when the
market demand for decorative base paper makes it
prudent to do so.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade receivables and debtors’ turnover days

Our Group normally requires the customers to settle
the invoices by cash on delivery. The granting of credit
to customers is assessed on a case-by-case basis and
our Group may generally grant credit terms of 10 to 30
days on a rolling basis to the customers, depending
on whom our Group has maintained a longer business
relationship.

The trade receivables balance decreased by
approximately 25.3% from approximately RMB72.3
million as at 31 December 2011 to RMB54.0 million
as at 31 December 2012. The decrease in trade
receivables as at 31 December 2012 is mainly
attributable to the change in debtors combinations
at end of the year who have different credit periods
granted.

The debtors’ turnover days decreased from 13 days
for the year ended 31 December 2011 to 10 days for
the year ended 31 December 2012.

Trade payables and creditors’ turnover days

Our trade payable balance decreased by approximately
1.3% from RMB79.1 million as at 31 December 2011
to RMB78.1 million as at 31 December 2012. The
credit periods granted by various suppliers generally
not more than 30 days. The creditors’ turnover days
were 23 and 24 for the year ended 31 December 2011
and 2012, respectively. It is our Group’s policy to
settle all of the outstanding balances with the suppliers
within the maximum credit period granted so as to
maintain the relationships with the respective suppliers.
We purchased raw materials in line with our production
needs and the fluctuation in creditors’ turnover days is
affected by our purchases based on production plans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Financial resources

The financial resources of the Group continued to be
strong. As at 31 December 2012 shareholders’ funds
of the Group totalled RMB3,234.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately 1.0% from RMB3,202.4
million at 31 December 2011. The Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB539.5 million as
at 31 December 2012 (2011: RMB488.9 million).

The Group continues to enjoy a stable and strong net
cash inflow from operations. During the year ended
31 December 2011 and 2012, the net cash generated
from operations was RMB450.5 million and RMB333.3
million, respectively.

Financial management and treasury policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment of uncommitted funds
with an objective of enhancing the practicable returns
for shareholders and maintaining adequate liquidity
and preservation of capital. The Group’s financing and
treasury activities are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level and aim to ensure that adequate
financial resources are available for refinancing and
business growth. The Group reviews its liquidity and
financing arrangements periodically.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk
to ensure there are no undue exposures to significant
interest rate movements and rates are approximately
fixed. As at 31 December 2012, the Group did not
have any bank borrowings. The Group conducts its
business transactions principally in the PRC. All of
the Group’s turnover and cost of sales and most
of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in RMB. RMB is the functional currency
of the Group’s principal operating subsidiary and used
as the reporting currency in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. As
such, the fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies
during the years did not have significant impact on the
results of the Group.

BBER

REBZHBERDAREBRZ R_T—=F
+ZA=+—R AEEZBRRESLEBEAR
AR®3,234,300,000C ' 8 —-F——F+ =
A=+—HB 2 AR 3,202,400,000 7T & N4
1.0% - REFBR _ZT——F+-_A=+—H2
He kReEEMY A AR 539,500,000 7T

—ZT——% : AR¥ 488,900,0007T) °

AEBEBEZERERAIKEEBEEM
AFH BE_T——FRT-—Z_F+=
A=1T—BLEFE KEXBMEEA RS
FE D Bl A AR 450,500,000 7T & A R
333,300,000 T °

MHEEREBEE
AEEHREEENMREARE S RERIUR
SHER G BEESBRRZIERER - #55EH
MBEERREER - AEBZBE MERE
BEREE  RARES  BMNERERATH
MHEERAKBREREXBIER - AEETH
BEERBDES MBERY -

AEEERFRAR 2 RERRREHREA
FEBBHTEATIBSARRERHEAK
Bf-R-F——F+-A=+—0 A%HE
W WAMBITEE  AEEE B BT
525 AEEMALERERHEREAR
AREBANH S AR RE B AR
HiE - ARSHAEEEELENEATZY
BN R A R ERA M AR AR
HEW - F o ERARY LIS Z HBHA
EECEEYMEATE -

VO Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited 2 E X X2 KR ER 2 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group recorded aggregate additions to property,
plant and equipment and construction in progress of
approximately RMB240.6 million (2011: RMB549.1
million).

Capital commitments, contingencies and charge
on assets

The Group will further invest RMB156.8 million to
expand the production capacity and reengineer and
modify the existing production facilities to enhance
production efficiency.

Such capital commitments will be financed by the
internal resources of the Group. The Group has
environmental contingencies under the increasingly
stringent environmental protection laws and regulations
in the PRC. However, as at the date hereof, the
Group has not incurred any significant expenditure for
environmental remediation and is currently not involved
in any environmental remediation. In addition, the
outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or
future environmental legislation cannot be reasonably
estimated at present. As such, the Group has not
accrued any amounts for environmental remediation
relating to its operations. Saved as disclosed above,
the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2012.

As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, the Group did not
have any property, plant and equipment secured for
any borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2012, our Group employed over
1,700 employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. Key
components of the Group’s remuneration packages
include basic salary, medical insurance, discretionary
cash bonus and retirement benefit scheme. Promotion
and salary increments are assessed based on a
performance related basis.

The Group has neither experienced any significant
problems with its employees or disruptions to
its operations due to labour disputes, nor has it
experienced any difficulties in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group
maintains a good working relationship with its
employees.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT \

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo, aged 57, is the co-founder of
QX Group. Dr. Zhu was appointed as an executive
Director and a chairman of the Board in September
2006. He is a director of various subsidiaries and
associated corporations of the Company. He is also
a director of Boom Instant Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing and planning the business strategies of
the Group. Dr. Zhu completed tertiary education with
major in corporate management in Shandong Province
Economic Management Official Institute* in the PRC
in April 1992. Prior to the incorporation of Shandong
QX, which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Dr. Zhu had been engaged in work relating
to the manufacture of paper manufacturing machinery
parts for over 10 years during which he also studied
the features of different types of paper products and
has accumulated extensive experience and knowledge
in paper manufacturing industry. In 1990, Dr. Zhu
was appraised as an economist by Zouping County
Science and Technology Committee*. In July 20083,
he was honoured by Shandong Provincial People’s
Government as “Outstanding Private Entrepreneur
in Shandong Province, the PRC*”. In January 2007,
Dr. Zhu was hired by the Information Management
Institute of Shandong Economic Institute as a partime
professor. In November 2007, Dr. Zhu received the
“World Outstanding Chinese Award” from the World
Outstanding Chinese Association and World Chinese
Business Investment Foundation. He was also
conferred with Honorary Doctoral Degree from Sinte
Gleska University of California. In 2009, Dr. Zhu was
conferred as one of the “Outstanding Entrepreneur
of Papermaking Industry in China”* by China Paper
Association. Dr. Zhu is the spouse of Ms. Sun Rui
Fang, a non-executive Director, and the father of Mr.
Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGAREEEBE

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun, aged 33, is the co-founder of QX
Group. He was appointed as an executive Director,
a general manager of the Company as well as a
vice-chairman of the Board in September 2006. He
is a director of various subsidiaries and associated
corporations of the Company. He is also a director
of Boom Instant Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Zhu is responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s business. He completed
tertiary legal education in Shandong Province Political
& Legal Management Official Institute* in the PRC in
July 2001. In 2004, he was awarded with the title of
International Professional Manager by International
Managers Union. In January 2005, he was approved by
China Human Resource Exchange Centre* to become
a member of database of experts in the PRC. The
database is known as “National Database of Human
Resources in Business Operation and Management*”
which stores the information of senior enterprise
administrators. In 2005, he was appraised as one of
the “Ten Outstanding Entrepreneurs in Shandong*”
by Appraisal Committee for Ten Outstanding
Entrepreneurs in Shandong*. In April 2006, he was
honoured jointly by Binzhou City Committee of the
Communist Youth League* and State Economic and
Trade Commission in Binzhou City* as “Outstanding
Young Entrepreneur in Binzhou City*”. Mr. Zhu is the
son of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board, and
Ms. Sun Rui Fang, a non-executive Director.

Mr. SUN Zhen Shui, aged 58, was appointed
as an executive Director in September 2007. Mr.
Sun is responsible for managing the financial and
administrative affairs of the Group. He completed
tertiary education in business management in
Shandong Province Economic Management Official
Institute* in the PRC in May 1994 and obtained from
Shandong Province Binzhou District Professional Title
Reform Leader Group* a qualification as a qualified
accountant in the PRC in December 1994. Mr. Sun has
been a supervising accountant of Changshan Town
Economy Committee* for a period from 1983 to 2004.
He has over 20 years of experiences in the financial
field.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Non-executive Director

Ms. SUN Rui Fang, aged 57, was appointed as
a non-executive Director in September 2007. She
is a director of various subsidiaries and associated
corporations of the Company. She is also a director of
Boom Instant Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Prior to such appointment, Ms. Sun had,
since the inception of Shandong QX, assisted Dr. Zhu
Yu Zuo, a chairman of the Board and Mr. Zhu Mo Qun,
a vice-chairman of the Board, in attending general
administrative works of Shandong QX. Ms. Sun is the
spouse of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo and the mother of Mr. Zhu
Mo Qun.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Wei, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September
2007. Mr. Zhao completed tertiary education in Dalian
Institute of Light Industry (now known as “Dalian
Polytechnic University”) in the PRC in June 1982,
majoring in paper manufacturing. Mr. Zhao became
a senior engineer accredited by China Light Industry
Association* in December 1993 and is now the vice
president and general secretary of China Paper
Association. Mr. Zhao has been a member of the Food
and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
since 2007. Mr. Zhao has also been a deputy chief
member of the Nationwide Paper Making Industry
Standardized Technology Committee since 2006. Mr.
Zhao is currently an independent director of Shandong
Bohui Paper Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC. Mr. Zhao has
accumulated approximately 30 years of experience in
the paper making industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGAREEEBE

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Mr. WANG Lu, aged 32, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September
2007. He graduated from Shandong University in the
PRC in July 2003 with a degree in computer science
and technology and subsequently obtained a master’s
degree in information technology from Monash
University in Australia in October 2005. He has been a
lecturer of a university in the PRC. He currently works
as engineer at YanTai University in the PRC. Mr. Wang
has approximately 9 years of experience in computer
engineering.

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong, aged 47, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director in September
2007. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants. He was an independent
non-executive director of China Investment Fund
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from 2008 to 2010.
He is now an independent non-executive director of
Golden Shield Holdings (Industrial) Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and a
financial controller and company secretary of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd., a company listed both on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. Mr. Kwong has over 25 years of experience
in management accounting and financial control.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SUN Shu Guang, aged 59, joined the Group as
a deputy general manager and the head of finance
department of Shandong QX in April 2003, and is
responsible for the Group’s financial management
function in the PRC. Mr. Sun completed tertiary
education in Shandong Province Communist Party
School* in the PRC in December 1994, majoring in
economic administration. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Sun had worked in the economic authorities of
the PRC government. He has extensive experience in
corporate management.

Mr. POON Tsz Hang, aged 35, was appointed as
financial controller of the Company in May 2009
and is responsible for the Group’s overall financial
management, accounting and investor relations. Mr.
Poon graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy.
Mr. Poon is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to joining the
Group in December 2007, Mr. Poon worked with an
international accounting firm. He has over 10 years of
experience in auditing and accounting.

Ms. LAM Wai Yee, Sophie, aged 37, joined the
Group in January 2008 and was appointed as
company secretary of the Company in May 2009.
Ms. Lam is responsible for the Group’s corporate
services including compliance, company secretarial,
human resources and corporate communications.
Ms. Lam holds a bachelor’s degree in translation and
a postgraduate diploma in corporate administration
from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Lam is also a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. She has over 10 years of
experience in compliance and company secretarial
profession.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EXERES

The Board submits herewith the annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of
QX Group for the year ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 are set out
in note 17 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2012 are set out in the Consolidated
Income Statement on page 68 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.229 cents (2011: HK3.38 cents) per
share for the year ended 31 December 2012. No
interim dividend was paid for the six months ended 30
June 2012 (six months ended 30 June 2011: Nil).

Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
annual general meeting (the “2013 AGM”) of the
Company to be held on Wednesday, 19 June 20183,
the proposed final dividend will be paid on or about
Friday, 12 July 2013 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 28 June 2013.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTQORS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 17 June 2013 to Wednesday,
19 June 2013 (both days inclusive), for the purpose
of ascertaining the shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2013 AGM. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the 2013 AGM, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14 June 2013.

The register of members of the Company will
be closed from Wednesday, 26 June 2013 to
Friday, 28 June 2013 (both days inclusive), for
the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders
who are qualified to receive the final dividend. In
order to qualify for receiving the final dividend, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 25 June 2013.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 26(b) to
the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity on pages 72 to 73 of this annual
report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31
December 2012 are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2012, the Company’s reserve
available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB1,368.8 million,
of which approximately RMB15.9 million has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman)®*
Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman)*
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui*

Non-executive Director
Ms. SUN Rui Fang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Wei" *?

Mr. WANG Lu"*?®

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong" > °

Notes:

1. Member of Audit Committee

2. Member of Nomination Committee
3. Member of Remuneration Committee
4, Member of Executive Committee

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of
Association, Ms. Sun Rui Yang, Mr. Zhao Wei and Mr.
Kwong Kwan Tong will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of 3
years.

The non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a period of 2
years in accordance with their respective appointment
letters. During the year, their appointments have been
renewed for 2 years upon their respective expiry, on
substantially the same terms.

The Directors shall retire by rotation and be eligible
for reelection subject to Article 108 of the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors and their
respective associates has engaged in or had an
interest in a business, which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors during the
year are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2012, the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company was 1,581,391,450;
and the interests of the Directors in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, were set out below:

ESERES

EEME
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EERADAIREEBEERG 25
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Long Positions in Shares of the Company RARDNB R 2 HFE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held shareholding
ExE8 B RERtE BEZEBRRYE REZBNB DL
Dr. ZHU Yu Guo Interest of controlled corporation 1,075,207,218 67.78%
KEEEL e NCIE £ (Note)
(K1)
Ms. SUN Rui Fang Interest of spouse 1,075,207,218 67.78%
Bims X+ [ e (Note)
(K1)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (CONTINUED)

Note:

All these shares were beneficially owned by Boom Instant
Limited which was owned as to 80% by Addinsight Limited.
By virtue of his 87.5% direct interest in Addinsight Limited,
Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board, was deemed to
be interested in the same parcel of shares owned by Boom
Instant Limited under the SFO.

Ms. Sun Rui Fang, an non-executive Director and the spouse
of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, was deemed to be interested in the same
parcel of shares as Dr. Zhu under the SFO.

These shares were same as those shares held by Boom
Instant Limited as disclosed in the section headed
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares of the
Company” below.

Long position in Shares of Associated
Corporations of the Company

EERAQAIREEBEERG 2

% (4%)

wt -

ZEMR M 2 EH Boom Instant Limited Bz A -
Addinsight Limited #8 £ 80% fx iz - ERNES
@ ¥ &K E B8 %4 Addinsight Limited 22 87.5%
HERGOEZ  BREEHFLPEKD  BERAHE
A Boom Instant Limited 38 2 B —#Li& (H 2 = o

REBEESRMEGRD  SFRTEFRRITLL(RE
Big L2 BB RE/ERRELARR—HtikmZ

i -
HERHET X FERRRARTME 2 2 —

ENFT# 5 2 F Boom Instant Limited# 8 Z %) 10
A -

RAEQAREBEERG Z2HA

Name of
associated

Approximate

Number of percentage
ordinary shares of the issued
Nature of held ordinary shares

Name of Director corporation Capacity interest _BhEz HERTEERZ
EZEl HEEE AR f BatE EBERYA BRBLL
Dr. ZHU Yu Zuo Boom Instant Limited  Interest of controlled Corporate 80 80%
AEEBL _ corporation NG
SR UNIL E
Addinsight Limited Beneficial owner/Interest of  Personal/Family 87.5/12.5 87.5%/12.5%
_spouse » AN/ Kk
EaBAAN/TBRR
Ms. SUN Rui Fang ~ Boom Instant Limited Interqgt\ pf spouse Family 80 80%
BiRmAnt [T 3 Kk
Addinsight Limited Beneficial owner/Interest of  Personal/Family 12.5/87.5 12.5%/87.5%
_spouse » BA/ Rk
Eafis A/ BfER
Mr. ZHU Mo Qun Boom Instant Limited  Interest of controlled Corporate 20 20%
REHLE _ corporation NG (Note)
XA AR (Hit)
Be Broad Limited Beneficial owner Corporate 100 100%
BafiBA NG
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (CONTINUED)

Note:

All these shares were beneficially owned by Be Broad Limited.
By virtue of his 100% direct interest in Be Broad Limited, Mr.
Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board, was deemed to
be interested in the same parcel of shares in Boom Instant
Limited held by Be Broad Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012,
none of the Directors has interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or other associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year, was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisitions of shares or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors
or their spouse or children under age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company, or
had exercised any such right during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2012, the interests of substantial
shareholders and other persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company, were set out below:

=2

BERONEER ZERN#)
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BREIEHI 5 336 18 B E 2 AR B) B el Arac 8%

o
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Name of
ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Number of substantial held ordinary shares
shareholder BEZ HEBRTEERZ
FERRER ZBEREE BHYBED T
Boom Instant Limited 1,075,207,218 67.78%
(Note)
(Ki7)
Addinsight Limited 1,075,207,218 67.78%
(Note)
(Ki7)
Notes: Hizt -
1. All these shares were beneficially owned by Boom 1. #ZFRH 2 E A Boom Instant Limited B &

Instant Limited. By virtue of its 80% direct interest in
Boom Instant Limited, Addinsight Limited was deemed
to be interested in the same parcel of shares held
by Boom Instant Limited under the SFO. Dr. Zhu Yu
Zuo, Mr. Zhu Mo Qun and Ms. Sun Rui Fang are the
directors of both Boom Instant Limited and Addinsight
Limited.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, no
other persons (other than the Directors) were recorded
in the register of the Company required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO as having interests or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 8
September 2007 whereby any Directors or selected
participants may be granted options to subscribe for
the Company’s shares at the discretion of the Board.
The principal terms of the scheme are summarised in
note 28 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on pages 157 to 160 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes adopted by the
Group during the year are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFRMHERS
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and EREAEERFERF MEERNERSD BT
purchases attributable to the major customers and HEmNEEERE AR -

suppliers respectively during the year was as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total

HEEEES L
Sales Purchases
BHER BB

The largest customer BRARP 6.5% —
Five largest customers in aggregate HA AZF AT 31.8% —
The largest supplier A ER — 10.3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAREEEEE — 41.8%
At no time during the year have the Directors, their REAEAERE BEES  FESECHE
respective associates or any shareholder of the AR ESHANERBAS% AN QRIEE
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors TRARZARBRRERZEEERP RHEER
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share Wa TR o
capital) had any interest in these major customers and
suppliers.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT REHRARERE
Based on the information that is publicly available BERARFTRAFAEECHECERNRBEESAN
to the Company and within the knowledge of the M ARBRRFARBEEARNFRAMIL  — &
Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed Wi EMRBFTRE 2 ARIERE ©

public fl oat under the Listing Rules during the year
and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the
Company has fully complied with the code provisions
under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(effective until 31 March 2012) (the “Former Code”)
and Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1 April
2012) (the “New Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules throughout the year save for deviation
from the provision A.2.1 of both the Former Code and
the New Code and provision A.6.7 of the New Code.
The full details of corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2012, or where applicable, up to the date
of this annual report, are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 50 to 64 of this annual
report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng were appointed as
auditors of the Company (the “Auditors”) on 1
August 2011 to fill the casual vacancy created by the
retirement of KPMG at the conclusion of the adjourned
general meeting of the Company held on 8 June
2011. The consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2011 were audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng.

In March 2012, the practice of HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng was reorganised as HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. An ordinary resolution for the appointment of
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the Auditors
to hold office until the conclusion of the 2013 AGM
has been passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 June 2012.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2012 have been audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the 2013 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment.

ZHU Yu Guo . XEE
Chairman F )&

Shandong, the PRC, 18 March 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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QX Paper is committed to maintaining good standards
of corporate governance practices and corporate
conduct. It is the belief of the Board that such
commitment can enhance the performance of the
Group and serve to enhance our shareholders’ value.
To this end, the Board and our management will
make continuous effort to reinforce our standards
of corporate governance with emphasis on
independence, effective internal control, transparency
and accountability to shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Company has complied with the code provisions
under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(effective until 31 March 2012) (the “Former Code”)
and Corporate Governance Code (effective from 1 April
2012) (the “New Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules throughout the year save for the
following deviations:

Under the provision A.2.1 of the Former Code and the
New Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer (CEO) should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the year, the
Company does not have any person holding the title
of CEO. Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, who apart from being the
Company’s major shareholder, executive Director and
chairman of the Board, also assumed responsibilities
which are comparable to those of a CEO. Dr. Zhu
is responsible for overseeing and planning the
business strategies of the Group as well as providing
leadership and management to the Board. The role
of the chairman is separated from that of the general
manager of the Company. Mr. Zhu Mo Qun (the son
of Dr. Zhu), an executive Director, general manager of
the Company as well as vice-chairman of the Board, is
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
business operations and implementing the business
strategies formulated by the Board. The Board
considers that this management structure can provide
the Group with consistent leadership and enables the
Group to make and implement the Board’s decisions
promptly and efficiently. The Board will regularly
review the effectiveness of this structure to ensure that
such structure is appropriate in view of the Group’s
prevailing circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPQRT

Under the provision A.6.7 of the New Code,
independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors should, inter alia, attend general
meetings. Ms. Sun Rui Fang, a non-executive Director
and Mr. Wang Lu, an independent non-executive
Director, were unable to attend the annual general
meeting (the “2012 AGM”) of the Company held on 27
June 2012 due to prior business commitment whilst
Mr. Zhao Wei was unable to attend the 2012 AGM as
he has gone on a business trip on that day.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises 3 executive Directors,
1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-
executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman)

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman)
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui

Non-executive Director
Ms. SUN Rui Fang

INEDS

Mr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. WANG Lu

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong

The Directors are well-versed in respective areas such as
papermaking industry’s knowledge and technical know-
how, accounting and finance and business management.
The Board as a whole has achieved an appropriate
balance of skills and experience. The biographical details
of the Directors and the relationship among them, if
any, are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” section on pages 33 to 36
of this annual report and the Company’s website at
www.gxpaper.com. To the knowledge of the Directors,
the Board members have no financial, business, families
or other material relationships with each other.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic
direction and policies of the Group and supervising
our management. Some functions including, inter alia,
the monitoring and approval of material transactions,
matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director of the Company, the approval
of the interim and final results and other disclosures
to the public or regulators are reserved by the Board
for consideration and approval. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily
management and operation of the Company are
delegated to the executive committee of the Board and
senior management of the Company.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Article 108 of the Articles of Association provides that
all the Directors, including chairman of the Board, are
subject to retirement from office at least once every
3 years at each annual general meeting and shall be
eligible for re-election. Under Article 105 of the Articles
of Association, the office of a Director is liable to be
vacated in certain circumstances and the Company
may remove any Director by an ordinary resolution at
a general meeting as prescribed in Article 114 of the
Articles of Association.
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Executive Directors

All the executive Directors have entered into service
agreements with the Company for a term of 3 years
and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the provisions of the Articles
of Association. Each of them is entitled to a fixed
Director’s fee per annum and a discretionary bonus
in an amount to be determined by the Board. Such
emoluments are determined with reference to his
experience and contributions to the Group, the Group’s
performance and profitability, as well as the prevailing
market conditions. An executive Director may not vote
on any Board’s resolution regarding the amount of his
bonus (if any).

Non-executive Director and INEDs

The non-executive Director and INEDs have the same
duties of care and skill and fiduciary duties as the
executive Directors. They are expressly identified as
such in all corporate communications that disclose the
names of the Directors.

The INEDs are experienced professionals with expertise
in respective areas of papermaking industry and
related technical know-how, engineering, accounting
and finance. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the INEDs advise the Company on its
operation and management; provide independent
opinion on the Company’s connected transactions;
participate in various committees’ meetings of the
Board. The INEDs also contribute to provide adequate
checks and balance to protect the interests of the
Group and its shareholders as a whole, and to promote
the development of the Group.
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All the non-executive Director and INEDs have entered
into letters of appointment with the Company for
a term of 2 years and are subject to retirement by
rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with
the provision of the Articles of Association.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all INEDs
to be independent as at the date of this annual report.

Training and Support for Directors
Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Newly appointed Directors will
receive induction packages containing the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules and
other applicable rules and regulations.

Moreover, all the Directors are briefed and updated
from time to time on the latest legislative and regulatory
developments to ensure that they are fully aware of
their responsibilities under the Listing Rules, applicable
legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Company organised a formal
training session conducted by its Hong Kong legal
adviser DLA Piper Hong Kong for the Directors. The
training session covered topics including the New
Code, the disclosure of price sensitive information,
etc.. All the Directors attended the training session.
Moreover, all the Directors have participated in
continuous professional development by reading
newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory
environments in which the Group operates, directors’
duties and responsibilities, etc.. All the Directors are
required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year.
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In order to ensure that their duties can be properly
discharged, the Directors are entitled to seek advice
from independent professional advisers whenever
deemed necessary by them at the Company’s
expense.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Board
held a total of 6 meetings (the “Board Meeting(s)”’)
to review and approve, among other things, the 2011
annual results and 2012 interim results, connected
transactions and strategic business direction of the
Group.

The Board Meetings are permitted to be held by
means of telephone or other means of electronic
communication under the Articles of Association.

Reasonable notices are served and comprehensive
information is provided to the Board members in
advance of all the Board Meetings in order to enable
them to make informed decisions on all matters
transacted at the Board Meetings.

The proceedings of the Board Meetings are normally
conducted by the chairman of the Board who ensures
that sufficient time is allowed for discussion among
the Directors and equal opportunities are being given
to the Directors to express their views and share their
concerns.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board,
the individual is required to declare such interest and
to abstain from voting. The matter is considered at
a Board Meeting attended by Directors who have no
material interest in the transaction.
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The company secretary (the “Company Secretary”)
of the Company is responsible for preparing minutes
recording all matters transacted and resolved at the
Board Meetings. All minutes of the Board Meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ MEETING ATTENDANCE
RECORD

During the year, the attendance of the Directors at
Board meetings, the Board committees’ meetings and
the 2012 AGM is as follows:

ARBzrmME((RARE)AERESH
i W EFE @R LAAR N KERZ
FH-FMAEEERRCHIARRANERE
®7F - WAIMEEFEER -

EEvEaatiFERae

FRN EFHFEESeS EFZEg9H
M—ZE-—_FEBRFEFRENERAT

Number of meetings attended/held

LR/ BRERRY
Remuneration
and
Nomination 2012
Audit Committee AGM
Board Committee FMER —B--5E
Directors s Exg ENZE® BEEZEg RRBEEAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman) KEBBL(FE) 6/6 N/A 7NE A 11 1/1
Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman) k28 % £ (8/%/E) 6/6 N/A i A N/A i A 0/1
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui BiRKkEE 6/6 N/A N N/A N 0/1
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Ms. SUN Rui Fang BmpaL 6/6 N/A 1@ N/A T iEF 0/1
Independent Non-executive BV H#EHTEE
Directors
Mr. ZHAO Wei BELE 6/6 3/3 11 0/1
Mr. WANG Lu TELE 6/6 3/3 11 0N
Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong BEELE 6/6 3/3 11 1/1
Company Secretary NFEWE

Ms. Lam Wai Yee, Sophie, the Company Secretary, is
a full time employee of the Group and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the year,
Ms. Lam has completed no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure that
the Group’s pay levels are competitive in attracting
and retaining the Directors, senior management
and employees as well as motivating them in the
continual pursuit of the Group’s goal and objectives.
The remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management is performance-based and takes
into account factors such as the Group’s business
performance and prevailing market practices. The key
components of the Group’s remuneration package
include basic salary, medical insurance, discretionary
cash bonus and retirement benefit scheme. No
individual Director or senior management will be
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee of the Board will
consult with chairman of the Board in respect of their
recommendations in determining the remuneration of
the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company. The details of the Remuneration Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board Committees”
below.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
and senior staff of the Group for their potential
liabilities incurred by them in discharging their duties.
The Company reviews the insurance coverage for the
Directors and the Group’s senior staff on an annual
basis.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the QX Securities Dealing
Code for securities transactions by the Directors and
relevant employees (the “Relevant Employees”) who
are or may be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry by
the Company, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors and the Relevant Employees have complied
with the required standard as set out in both the
QX Securities Dealing Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.

Board Committees

The Board has established a total of 4 board
committees including executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”), audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination
committee (“Nomination Committee”) (collectively
the “Committees”) to oversee specific aspects of the
Group’s affairs. The Committees have been provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their respective
duties. Each of the Committees has adopted specific
terms of reference covering its duties, powers and
functions which will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time. The terms of reference of the Committees
have been posted on website of the Company at
www.gxpaper.com. The Company Secretary also acts
as secretary of the Committees. The Committees adopt
as far as practicable, the procedures and arrangement
of the Board Meeting in relation to the conduct of
meetings, notice of meetings and recording of minutes.
Further particulars of each of the Committees are set
out below:
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(1) Executive Committee

&

The Executive Committee currently comprises all
3 executive Directors and is chaired by Dr. Zhu
Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board. The Board
delegates powers to the Executive Committee
to conduct and supervise the business and daily
operation of the Group as well as its staff. The
Executive Committee is also responsible for
overseeing the management of the Company,
dealing with matters regarding finance,
investment, corporate governance and corporate
communication of the Group.

All the matters considered and decided by the
Executive Committee at the meetings will be
recorded in details by minutes.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises all
3 INEDs and is chaired by Mr.
Tong, a professional accountant with over 20

Kwong Kwan

years of experience in management accounting
and financial control. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control
of the Group. Moreover, the Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the Company’s external auditors as
well as approving their terms of engagement,
including remuneration. All members of the Audit
Committee have unrestricted access to the

Group’s external auditors and management.

(1)

(2)
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During the year, the Audit Committee has held
3 meetings to review, inter alia, (a) to review the
2011 annual results and 2012 interim results of
the Group; (b) the matters concerning the internal
control, risk management, auditing and financial
reporting matters of the Group and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties. (c) the staffing and resources of
the Company’s internal audit department (the
“Internal Audit Department”); and (d) re-
appointment of external auditors. The Audit
Committee also met with the external auditors
twice without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the re-appointment of external auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
4 members including 1 executive Director and
all 3 INEDs. The Remuneration Committee is
chaired by Mr. Wang Lu, an INED. The primary
duty of the Remuneration Committee is to
review and determine on behalf of the Board
specific remuneration packages and conditions
of employment for the Directors and senior
management. Each of the Directors is prohibited
from involving in the determination of his/her
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has
held 1 meeting. At the meeting, members of the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

During the year, the annual remuneration of the
Company’s senior management is within the
following bands:
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(4) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises
4 members including 1 executive Director and all
3 INEDs. The Nomination Committee is chaired
by Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board. The
primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies of the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has
held 1 meeting. At the meeting, members of
the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
structure and composition of the Board, assessed
the independence of INEDs in accordance with
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, and
the suitability of the re-election of the Directors
who are subject to the retirement by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing financial statements of the Group in
accordance with relevant statutory requirements
and International Financial Reporting Standards and
ensuring that the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the Group’s financial position. To this end,
the Directors strives to present a comprehensive and
balanced assessment of the Group’s development and
prospects in all corporate communications, including
but not limited to annual and interim reports, any price-
sensitive announcements and financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules, any reports to
regulators as well as information required to be
disclosed pursuant to other statutory requirements.

In addition, monthly business and financial reports
are prepared by the Group’s finance department with
a view to providing the Board and the management
with timely and reliable financial/operational data and
information to ensure that they fully understand the
financial position and operating conditions of the Group
all the time.

The Directors consider that the Group had adequate
resources to continue in business in the foreseeable
future and are not aware of material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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A statement by the external auditors regarding their
responsibilities with respect to financial reporting
on the Group’s financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 65 to 67 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to implementing effective
internal controls and risk management procedures to
identify and manage the risks that may be faced by the
Group, with an aim of safeguarding the Group’s assets
and improving the operational efficiency, corporate
governance and risk management of the Group.

The Board is responsible for maintaining adequate
internal controls and risk management procedures in
the Group, and for reviewing its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee. Evaluation of the Group’s internal
control is independently conducted by the Internal
Audit Department on an on-going basis.

During the year, the Internal Audit Department
performed risk-based audits to review the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal controls so as to assure that
(a) key business and operational risks of the Group are
identified and managed; and (b) the Group’s internal
controls are carried out appropriately.

The aforesaid review made by the Internal Audit
Department has been reported to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has, in turn, reported the
same to the Board together with its assessment and
recommendations. Based on the results of the review
together with the assessment and recommendations
made by the Audit Committee, the Board is satisfied
that during the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group has implemented adequate internal controls
and risk management procedures. No significant areas
of concern which might materially affect the Group’s
operation and the interests of our shareholders were
identified.
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REMUNERATION OF INDEPENDENT
EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Company’s independent external auditors are
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”). During
the year, the interim and annual audit fees paid by the
Company to HLB were approximately RMB500,000
and RMB1,800,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors
The Group has endeavoured to enhance its corporate
transparency and communications with shareholders
and the investment community. Through the timely
distribution of press releases, the Group has also kept
the public abreast of its latest developments. To ensure
shareholders and investors can follow closely on the
Group’s business development, our corporate website
at www.gxpaper.com acts as an effective channel for
providing comprehensive and updated information
on the Group’s business operation and development.
Useful information which is available on the Company’s
website includes announcements, circulars, press
releases, results presentations as well as interim and
annual reports.

The Company has designated key officers to
communicate with institutional shareholders, analysts
and potential investors to ensure consistency of the
Group’s information.

Our Directors and management review the Group’s
disclosure of information and effectiveness of
communication with investors and shareholders from
time to time.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
in writing to the Company (sent to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite
2102, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon
Bay, Hong Kong). In addition, shareholders may
direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, which is presently situated
at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.
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Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the
Company provides a useful platform for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board, the Board members and the senior
management of the Company are available to answer
any questions raised by shareholders.

The AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time
to ensure that the Company follows best corporate
governance practices. The notice of AGM is distributed
to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the AGM and the accompanying circular also
sets out details of each proposed resolution and other
relevant information as required under the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the AGM exercises his power
under the Articles of Association to put each proposed
resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll are explained
at the beginning of the meeting. Voting results are
published on the website of the Company at www.
gxpaper.com and HKExnews website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk respectively on the
day of the AGM.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association,
shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company can make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to
convene an extraordinary general meeting. The written
requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Suite 2102, Exchange Tower, 33
Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders to
put forward proposals at general meetings other
than a proposal of a person for election as director.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for any
business specified in such written requisition.

The website of the Company at www.gxpaper.com
also sets out the procedure for a shareholder to
propose a person for election as a Director.

Other Information for Shareholders
During the year, no amendment has been made to the
Articles of Association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

oo/ EHHA RS
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HL

Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Qunxing Paper Holdings
Company Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Island with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 156, which
comprise the statements of financial position of the
Group and the Company as at 31 December 2012,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for
the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

18 3 % AR

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors of the
Company, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and the Company as at 31 December 2012
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements which describes the uncertainty
related to the outcome of an ongoing independent
review and investigation currently undertaken by an
independent professional advisor appointed by the
Company in respect of certain audit issues raised by
the Company’s previous auditor in its report dated 30
March 2011 on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 18 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
R a W&

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2012 2011
—F-=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

HiiE AR FT ARETT

Turnover = 3] 6 1,880,407 2,003,651

Cost of sales SHE KA (1,673,428) (1,676,741)
Gross profit EF 206,979 326,910
Other revenue H e 7 2,221 3,167
Other net (loss)/gain Hip(&8), wfFE 7 (12,610) 18
Selling expenses HERX (28,272) (25,494)
Administrative expenses TBRAX (58,341) (48,418)
Profit before taxation BB A% F 8 109,977 256,183
Income tax expense FRS iR 2 9(a) (34,724) (34,215)
Profit for the year FEER 75,253 221,968

Profit for the year attributable to: A~ A TEMEFEEFF) :

Equity shareholders RAGIERFFE A

of the Company 75,253 221,968
Earnings per share (RMB cents) SRZEF(AR%ES) 14
Basic BN 5 14
The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these R 76 =156 B WM It F4r & MRS HRER
consolidated financial statements. Details of dividends 28y c BEEENAAREERFEAFTER
payable to equity shareholders of the Company PG B Z BRI EE 10 ©
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note
10.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

2012 2011
—E-CF —F——%F
RMB$°000 RMB’000

AR FT AR®TT

Profit for the year FEE R A 75,253 221,968

Other comprehensive income/ HFEHM2EWKE (FHE)
(loss) for the year

Exchange differences on translation &I A RHEFNE ([ HE ])HHN

of financial statements of X MBRREECERLER

operations outside the People’s

Republic

of China (“the PRC”) 1,036 (9,043)

Total comprehensive income FEXHEKREE

for the year 76,289 212,925
Attributable to: PEqh :
Equity shareholders RATERFFEA

of the Company 76,289 212,925
The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these ME 76 E 156 BEMMIFEEK L FiR6 M EHRE
consolidated financial statements. Z— a1 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2012
RZF——#F+=H=+—H

2012 2011
—E-=F —ET——F
Notes RMB$’000 RMB’000
Kt AR FT ABRETFIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment %12 - 5B M& & 16(a) 2,473,224 2,193,346
Construction in progress EETRE 18 111,832 451,492
Lease prepayments HEENFIR 19 13,786 14,127
Prepayment for flood prevention B35 sz J8 1+ 3008
expenses 20 39,525 40,375
2,638,367 2,699,340
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =g 21 41,319 53,440
Trade and other receivables, FEWE 5 iR 3R K B FE LR
prepayments and deposits A ERFERRE 22 126,061 74,290
Cash and cash equivalents HehIREEEY 23 539,535 488,934
706,915 616,664
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FETE 5 AR 5K K H A FE < 5B 24 101,123 100,532
Current taxation B EARA 18 25 9,868 13,076
110,991 113,608
Net current assets REBEEFE 595,924 503,056
Net assets BEEFE 3,234,291 3,202,396
Capital and reserves EARRHE
Share capital [N 26(a) 147,562 147 562
Reserves fEE 3,086,729 3,054,834
Total equity EREE 3,234,291 3,202,396

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

EEgRN_T—=F=A+/\BHERE#ETH

directors on 18 March 2013. B o
Zhu Yu Guo Zhu Mo Qun
REE KREBE
Director Director
EE E2
The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these RE76E 156 B 2 MBIt FiRE M EHREK
consolidated financial statements. Z— 2B e
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B AR 2R

At 31 December 2012
RZFE——F+=-H=1—H

2012 2011
—g-=% =—®—-%
Notes RMB’000 RMB$%’000
KiaE AE¥FT ABRETFIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - = K& & E 16(b) 200 163
Interests in subsidiaries RSB ARz #Ew 17 1,120,814 1,121,839
1,121,014 1,122,002
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and o Y K FEAS 5RIB
prepayments 22 1,542 1,175
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEEEED 23 132,049 198,599
133,591 199,774
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERERER 24 3,314 2,863
Net current assets mENE EFE 130,277 196,911
Net assets EEFRE 1,251,291 1,318,913
Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital f&As 26(a) 147,562 147,562
Reserves Tt 1,103,729 1,171,351
Total equity EnEE 1,251,291 1,318,913
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of BEEeRN T —=F=A+/\BEREET
directors on 18 March 20183. K o
Zhu Yu Guo Zhu Mo Qun
KEEH REFH
Director Director
EE EBE
The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these RETOER 156 B 2T EMIEHET 2 —
financial statements. 2B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALTRR AR
Share Share Warrant Other Surplus  Exchange  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserves reserve profits equity
ke ROEE IREIEE  HAnEE tEEREE  EXRRE  REEA Emﬁ"r
Nt RMBOOO  RVBOO  RVBOWD  RWBOW  RAWBOW  RVBOWD  RVBODD  RUBOND
it ARk ARETR /(54?(?775) ANEETL  AEEFr  AREFr  AREFT  ARETR
note
()
Balance at 1 Januay ~ W=F-—F-A-A
2011 g 102427 1,365,811 — (10,323) 158,513 (64,004) 1,285,020 2,847,444
Profit for the year EEpil - - - - - - Mm% 221968
Other comprehensive ~ FEEM2AKE
income for the year - - - - - (9,043 - (9,043
Totel comprehensive R EANGEAE
income for the year - - - - - (9,043 221,968 212,925
Appropriation to suplus - AEEETREEE
reserve - - - - 23,579 - (23,579) -
Dividends declared and ~ EJRRALEL—EE
approved inrespectof - RE
the previous year 10 - (160,694) - - - - - (160,694)
Shareissued under  RELHEER(
open offer il 45,135 262,752 - - - - - 297,887
Share issue expenses  RIAEARR - (3,759) - - - - = (3,759)
Issue of warrants HTiRES - - 8,589 - - - - 8,589
Balance at 31 W-5--§
December 2011and  +=A=1-H
1 January 2012 k-2-2f
-f-R&8 147562 1,454,114 8,589 (10323 182,092 (63,047) 1483409 3,202,396
Profit for the year ~ EE %7 - - - - - - 75,253 75,253
Other comprehensive  EEEM2EEE
loss for the year - - - - - 1,036 - 1,036
Total comprehensive  EE2HHRAR
income for the year - - - - - 1,036 75,253 76,289
Appropriation to AREEERHREE
surplus reserve - - - - 10,018 - (10,018) -
Dividends declared  EREHEL-5E
and approved in RE
respect of the
previous year 10 - (44,394) - - - - (44,394)
Lapse of warrants ~ SIREREH - - (8,589) - - 8,589 -
Balance at 31 R-E-ZF+2R
December 2012 ER:T 1562 1409720 - (10328) 192110 (62011) 1557283 3,284,291
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note:

On 14 January 2011, the Group entered a subscription
agreement with an independent third party to subscribe for
warrants of up to HK$609,352,000 at a warrant subscription
price of HK$0.05 per warrant, the aggregate of which
amounting to HK$10,328,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB8,762,000). The expenses related to issuance of
warrants were approximately RMB173,000.

The warrant entitles the subscriber to subscribe for a total
of 206,560,000 warrant shares at the warrant exercise price
of HK$2.95 per warrant share (subject to adjustments as
provided in the subscription agreement) at any time during a
period of 12 months commencing from the completion date
of the subscription of the warrants. The subscription of the
warrants was completed on 21 January 2011.

All warrants were expired as at 20 January 2012.

The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these
consolidated financial statements.

MERRBER
For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

wt

—E——F—A1+WME ARREBYE=FHF]
VREHmE ERREEREBESMH005E T
R & %£609,352,000/8 T Z RRIERE - BB A
10,328,000/% T (K18 E W A K% 8,762,000 7T ) °
BITRIEE 2 AAERLY B AR 173,000 7T °

R TR AR - A RARAE FE SRR SRR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2012 2011
—E—-—=F —_gE——5F
Notes RMB$’000 RMB’000
Kt AR FT ABRETFIT
Cash flows from operating RETHFBHRERE
activities
Profit before taxation B F4 BT 42 109,977 256,183
Adjustments for: AT HIBELAE
Amortisation of lease M ETET FRIBEE 55
prepayments 8(b) 341 341
Amortisation of prepayment B 2t A S TR SR IE B 8
for flood prevention
expenses 8(b) 850 850
Depreciation e 8(b) 229,871 197,776
Impairment loss of property, Y3 - B MR EREEE
plant and equipment 8(b) 12,608 —
Interest income A B WA 7 (2,182) (3,131)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) SNEBE,(Was) 1,012 (3,723)
Change in working capital: LEEFH
Decrease/(increase) in BFERD,($Em)
inventories 12,121 (4,478)
Decrease in trade FEWE 5 Bk 3R % B A FE LR
and other receivables, FIE - BRI FRERRS
prepayments and deposits B 15,429 36,998
Increase in trade and FERTE SRR E MRS
other payables FRIAIE N 591 13,492
Cash generated from operations &L ¥BEL 7S 380,618 494,308
PRC income tax paid ENFEER (37,931) (43,847)
Net cash generated from RETHIBRLFHE
operating activities 342,687 450,461
Cash flows from investing RETHFBRENE
activities
Payment for the purchase of BEME - BERREMR
property, plant and equipment 2 318 (930) (891)
Payment for construction XMERETIENRIE
in progress (181,786) (548,253)
Prepayment for the acquisition — WEERKE M&EFTN Z
of plant and equipment TE IR (67,200) —
Interest received B W B 2,182 3,131
Net cash used in investing RETHFARSER
activities (247,734) (546,013)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Br—F——Ff - H=+—HIFZF

2012 2011
—E—-—F —_=B——F
Notes RMB$’000 RMB’000
Kt AR FT ABRETFIT
Cash flows from financing BEIHFEARSTRE
activities
Net proceeds from shares BREARBEEETROME
issued under open offer FIBF R - 294,132
Net proceeds from issued of BITIE LT RREE TS
unlisted warrants SIEFEE - 8,589
Dividends paid to equity EXNARAERFTEALZ
shareholders of the Company %8 10 (44,394) (160,694)
Net cash (used in)/generated BIEFZEI(FTA) FBEE
from financing activities FE (44,394) 142,027
Net increase in cash and REeRBESESEYFEHEEM
cash equivalents 50,559 46,475
Cash and cash equivalents FUERESREALEEY
at the beginning of the year 23 488,934 447,763
Effect of foreign exchange E =& 5
rate changes 42 (5,304)
Cash and cash equivalents FRESREASEEY
at the end of the year 539,535 488,934

The notes on pages 76 to 156 form part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 5 September 2006 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing
and trading of decorative base paper products
and printing paper product.

The shares of the Company were listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) on 2 October 2007.

At 31 December 2011, the Directors consider the
immediate parent and ultimate controlling party
of the Group to be Boom Instant Limited, which
is incorporated in the BVI. This entity does not
produce financial statements available for public
use.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated, rounded to the nearest thousand.

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
were audited by another auditor, whose report
dated 30 March 2011 contained a disclaimer of
opinion arising from inability to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence in relation to certain
audit issues (the “Audit Issues”). Since 2011,
the Company has appointed an independent
professional advisor to undertake an independent
review and investigation in respect of the Audit
Issues. As at the date of approval of these
condensed consolidated financial statements, the
Group’s business has been operating as usual
and the Company is not aware of any possible
impact on the Group’s operations and financial
position arising from the investigation which is still
on-going.

Further announcement will be made by the
Company as and when appropriate informing our
shareholders on the progress of the investigation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual
IFRSs, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations, issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”).

These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised
IFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note
3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE#E)

(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2012 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as “the Group”).

The measurement basis used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant
effect on the consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by
the Group. Control exists when the
Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently
are exercisable are taken into account.
The consolidated financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 2(h)).

Transactions eliminated on
consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealised profits arising
from intra — group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent payments
made to acquire leasehold land. Leasehold
land is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 2(h)). Amortisation is charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the leases.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2(h)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off
the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings 40 years
— Plant and machinery 10-20 years
— Motor vehicles 10 years
— Furniture and fixtures 2-10 years
and computer
equipment
— Leasehold Over the period of
improvements the lease term

Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents
property, plant and equipment under
construction and equipment pending
installation, and is initially recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less
Cost
comprises direct costs of construction.

impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred
to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all of the activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are
completed.

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed
and substantially ready for its intended use.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets
under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to profit or loss
in equal installments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease terms,
except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made.

A MR
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2. FEEHBEK#®)

(f)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE#E)

(Continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (h)y EERE
(i) Impairment of trade and other (i) EWEZRZREMEKE

receivables

Receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of
the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorgainisation; and

— significant changes in the
technological market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, any
impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect
of discounting is material.

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of the asset), where the
effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where
financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed
as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based
on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to
the collective group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued) (h)y BEERMEE)
() EUREZERFIRAMERZE

2. FEEHBE#®)

(i) Impairment of trade and other

receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A
reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off
against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables included within trade and
other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for
doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade receivables
directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEHBEK#®)
(Continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (Continued) (h)y BEEREE)
(i) Impairment of other assets (i) BEERE

Internal and external sources of AEB@NRESHEARENA
information are reviewed at the end 2B R AN B (5 B ARR - LA 2 5k
of each reporting period to identify THEERLE e IR BIE
indications that the following assets MR - 2 AR R EE
may be impaired or an impairment loss BRAGC THFENXAIGERT
previously recognised no longer exists b

or may have decreased:

a. investments in subsidiaries; a. RHBARMIKE :

b. lease prepayments; b. MEBENFIE

c. property, plant and equipment; c. W - WEKEME

d. construction in progress; and d. HEZEIEZ &

e. prepayment for the acquisition of e. WHEEEKEZHEHENR
plant and equipment. Ig o

If any such indication exists, the asset’s MRHBEEMBETR  F€

recoverable amount is estimated. HEEMAWESEEL G

E1le
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2. FEEHBE#®)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued) (h)
(ii) Impairment of other assets

EEREE)
(i) REEREE)

(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an

—  TRESENE

BEMABLBSELER

asset is the greater of its fair SEEREER A EFHE
value less costs to sell and value ERE RS SE o £
in use. In assessing value in use, TEEEBER - iR

the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of
the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E M RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHHEEE)
(Continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (Continued) (h)y BEEREE)

(ii) Impairment of other assets

(Continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange,
the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance
with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end
of the financial year (see notes 2(h)(i)
and (ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the
write down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

(k)

U]

(m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)),
except where the receivables are interest
free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and other financial institutions and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and
short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Warrant

Warrant issued by the Company that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are classified as an
equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE#E)

(Continued)

(m) Warrant (Continued)

(n)

The fair value of warrants on the date
of issue is recognised in equity (warrant
reserve). The warrant reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share
premium upon exercise of the warrants.
Where the warrants remain unexercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in warrants reserve will
be released to the retained profits or
accumulated losses.

Employee benefits

() Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

(i)  Contributions to appropriate local
defined contribution retirement
schemes pursuant to the relevant
labour rules and regulations in the
PRC are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred, except to the
extent that they are included in the cost
of inventories not yet recognised as an
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at
grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms
and conditions under which the options
were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss
for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Income tax

(i)

(il

Income tax for the year comprises
current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities. Current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise
from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Income tax (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions,
all deferred tax liabilities and all
deferred tax assets, to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the
asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+_F=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Income tax (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax
asset is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Income tax (Continued)

(iv)

Current tax balances and deferred tax
balances, and movements therein,
are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are
met:

— in the case of current tax assets
and liabilities, the Company of
the group intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets
and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities,
which in each future period
in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

For

A MR

the year ended 31 December 2012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE#E)

(Continued)

(p) Provision and contingent liabilities (p) BERSAREE
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of WMAREES AN AR BFRE BEENSE
uncertain timing or amount when the Group HEER ST E TR - AJgeE
or the Company has a legal or constructive MEEEETMEHRLEMNZZING -
obligation arising as a result of a past BIZER AEE AT EM st - (@
event, it is probable that an outflow of @A E TR EENAE
economic benefits will be required to settle TIREE R EENBEEEE
the obligation and a reliable estimate can X AREstETaEERESYES
be made. Where the time value of money is IRETHI B o
material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow %A = 11 ol B F) 25 S8 7 B
of economic benefits will be required, or @K sk EEN A B EEL
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, SNttt TEEEBEHBE T
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent WEANNAEBE  BNHKENRZS
liability, unless the probability of outflow HY Al RE MR K B BRI © DR AN E F
of economic benefits is remote. Possible NETERFERKZRARAKREH
obligations, whose existence will only LB E ST RS RE e
be confirmed by the occurrence or non- WEANNAEBE  BHKEEHRZS
occurrence of one or more future events Y AT BE 14 AR AR Bl BR A1 o
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(g) Revenue recognition () WETER

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable.
Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
customer has accepted the related
risks and rewards of ownership.
Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues using the effective interest
method.

(r) Transaction of foreign currencies

(i)

Functional and presentation
currency

Iltems included in the consolidated
financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using
the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying
events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The
functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries outside the PRC is
Hong Kong dollars and the functional
currency of the subsidiary in the PRC
is Renminbi. As the Group mainly
operates in the PRC, Renminbi is used
as the presentation currency of the
Group (“presentation currency”).

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE#E)

(Continued)

(r) Transaction of foreign currencies () hsBEE)
(Continued)
(i) Transactions and balances (i) XZREZE

Foreign currency transactions during
the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates.

The results of operations outside the
PRC are translated into Renminbi at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated
into Renminbi at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside
the PRC, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit
or loss on disposal is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

t)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are interrupted or complete.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on
development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as
an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2. FEEHBEK#®)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEHBE#®)
(Continued)
(u) Repair and maintenance expenditure (v #BRREXH
Repair and maintenance expenditure, HERREXHBEERERA)R
including cost of overhaul, is expensed as EERARK -
incurred.
(v) Related party transactions v) BEIRS

() the party is a person or a close
member of that person’s family and
that person,

1. has control or joint control over
the Group;

2. has significant influence over the
Group; or

3. is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent;
or

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:

1. the entity and the Group are
members of the same group
(which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

2. one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate on joint venture of a
member of a group on which the
other entity is a member);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES o, FEENWE®)
(Continued)
(v) Related party transactions (Continued) v) BESFRS(E)
(i)  (Continued) (i) (&)
3. both entities are joint ventures of 3. MHEEBEBHAER—ZF=7
the same third party; HEEDE
4. one entity is a joint venture of a 4. —HEBRE-HFEEN
third entity and the other entity is BEME mME—EBR
an associate of the third entity; ZE=ZFTEBNBED
A
5. the entity is a post-employment 5. BERRASERELLE
benefit plan for the benefit of FHRECERBIMEENS
employees of either the Group or JI B BER R A E 2
an entity related to the Group;
6. the entity is controlled or jointly 6. EBEEX(a )ﬁfr?ﬂa%‘J/\i?‘
controlled by a person identified in Hil sk 52 H EE S
1; and
7. a person identified in 2(v)(i) has 7. RKIEE2v)(0) AT BIA £
significant influence over the HEBEEAXENNE
entity or is a member of the key ZERB(EZEENTAQ
management personnel of the AETEEEENE -
entity (or of a parent of the entity).
Close family members of an individual are —EERBNORRENEEEZE
those family members who may be expected BXZRARETEZMENALHF
to influence, on be influenced by, that ZERALTHENKERKE ° MR
person in their dealings with the entity. A S RAER ZENERIEETE
transaction is considered to be a related F o ABEARSGEERBELIRS

party transaction when there is a transfer
of resources or obligations between related
parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 0. IEENE &)

(Continued)

(w) Segment reporting (w) DEBHRE
Operating segments, and the amounts KESHARGEEVERRAZHRZ
of each segment item reported in the ENHEEZeEETHREETA
consolidated financial statements, are SESSTREEABZMBER
identified from the financial information REFER - AEERSBEERSE
provided regularly to the Group’s most E oz BEEBKMIBGE RV HAR
senior executive management for the SEZRBERBRMIBLE 2 RR -

purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments HMB2|mMAE - RIED I AEME
are not aggregated for financial reporting Uz & BRFEREEm&IRBE M
purposes unless the segments have B EEIFME  FRERSE
similar economic characteristics and are A BEDEKREMSIIRBRE 2T
similar in respect of the nature of products 5£&§P&1&1RZ|$EHE$EM &
and services, the nature of production Q'JRTIEKWM“*BT\ EITA
processes, the type or class of customers, 1IE|J3EEKZ,%E DEB - AR

0

the methods used to distribute the products MAREDZLE - BIFETE

=
Ean

or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
IFRSs

The following new and revised standards,
interpretations and amendments (“new IFRSs”)
issued by IASB have been applied by the Group
in the current period which are or have become
effective. The impact of the application of the
new and revised standards and interpretations is
discussed below.

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets are effective for annual period
beginning or after 1 July 2011. It increases the
disclosure requirements for transactions involving
the transfer of financial assets in order to provide
greater transparency around risk exposures when
financial assets are transferred. The Group did not
enter into any types of transfer of financial assets
during the year. The amendments to IFRS 7 had
no material impact on the disclosure requirements
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets are effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2012. Those
provide an exception to the general principles
in IAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities should reflect
the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the entity expects to recover
the carrying amount of an asset. Specially, under
the amendments, investment properties that are
measure using the fair value mode in accordance
with 1AS 40 Investment Properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale for the purposes of
measuring deferred taxes, unless the presumption
is rebutted in certain circumstances. This is not
currently applicable to the Group, as it has no
deferred tax on recovery of underlying assets.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

IFRSs (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

IAS 1 (Amendments)
IAS 16 (Amendments)

IAS 19 (Amendments)
(as revised in 2011)

IAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
IAS 28 (as revised in 2011)
IAS 32 (as revised in 2011)
IAS 34 (Amendments)
IFRIC - Int 20

IFRS 7 (Amendments)
IFRS 9

IFRS 10

IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13
IFRS 10, 11, 12 (Amendments)

IFRS 10,12 and IAS 27 (Amendments)

IFRS (Amendments)

1 July 2012

Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income’
Property, Plant and Equipment®

Employee Benefits’

Separate Financial Statements®
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures®

Financial Instruments: Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilties”
Interim Financial Reporting’

Stripping Cost in Production Phase a Surface Ming’

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilties’

Financial Instruments'

Consolidated Financial Statements’

Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities®

Fair Value Measurement’

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities: Transttional Guidance®

Investment Entities®

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces
new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in November 2010)
adds requirements for financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

The standard requires all recognised financial
assets that are within the scope of IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be measured at either amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investment
that (i) are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows
and (ii) have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at fair value. The
application of IFRS 9 will affect the classification
and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

In relation of financial liabilities, the significant
change relates to financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial liabilities
that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income, unless
the presentation of the effects of changes in
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Previously, under IAS
39, the entire amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit or
loss.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 9 will be effective from 1 January 2013, with
earlier application permitted.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements builds
on existing principles by identifying the concept
of control as the determining factor in whether an
entity should be included within the consolidated
financial statements of the parent company.
The standard provides additional guidance to
assist in the determination of control where this
is difficult to assess. This standard replaces SIC
—12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities
and replaces parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements provides for a
more realistic reflection of joint arrangements
by focusing on the rights and obligations of
the arrangement, rather than its legal form (as
is currently the case). The standard addresses
inconsistencies in the reporting of joint
arrangements by requiring a single method to
account for interests in jointly controlled entities.
IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities —
Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is
a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure
requirements for all forms of interests in other
entities, including joint arrangements, associates,
special purpose vehicles and other off balance
sheet vehicles.

3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement improves
consistency and reduces complexity by providing,
for the first time, a precise definition of fair value
and a single source of fair value measurement
and disclosure requirements for use across
IFRSs. The requirements do not extend the use
of fair value accounting, but provide guidance on
how it should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted by other standards within
IFRSs.

In June 2012, the amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS
11 and IFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain
transitional guidance on the application of these
IFRSs for the first time.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements-Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income are effective for annual
period beginning on or after 1 July 2012. Those
introduce new terminology for the statement of
comprehensive income and income statement.
Those require companies preparing financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs to group
together items within other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) that may be reclassified to the
profit or loss section of the income statement. The
amendments also reaffirm existing requirements
that items in OCI and profit or loss should be
presented as either a single statement or two
consecutive statements.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

V& A 3 38 2 4245 5T 2 B PR B 3% 3R
HER(#)

BB S IR R E 18R A FEa E i
BERERATEZEREERATET
82 B —JORA R AR B 1 15 R o 7 A
R 2 BB R AR B R A
Mo BRRE L BEARTERDEZE
ABE - ERERERNHREEE
A RIE AR E ST AR AN S A 4R (R
3l -

RZZT——FXA  BRMEREERE
1057 ~ BIFR B 75 s 22 AU SE 11 5% S B
MM E LR E12RERM - AEFE
RERZFERPBEREEL 2B TBE
1ol e

B ERS 1 R(BIN)FEHREXZ
25| — B2 E¥mREZE5 K=
T-—FA-RAA KRR FEHRE
ER e R REERERRBERSE
MEFAE RERBBERM GRS E
AmEMBRRZABBAIEERDEE
BaXEadncBEREEt2mKa
(TEfbzmbmE D ESE - ZBFTTE
HEAERE — HftzmiahBaEn
B-RRIMEZEERRZS

Annual Report 2012 F i§ 1 07



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
IFRSs (Continued)

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. It requires
an entity that changes accounting polices
retrospective restatement or reclassification
to present a statement of financial position as
at the beginning of the preceding period. The
amendments to IAS 1 clarify that an entity is
required to present a third statement of financial
position only when the retrospective application,
restatement or reclassification has a material
effect on the information in the third statement of
financial position and that related notes are not
required to accompany the third statement of
financial position.

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify existing
application issues relating to the offset of financial
assets and financial liabilities requirements.
Specially, the amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-
off” and “simultaneous realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to IFRS 7 requires entities to
disclose information about rights of offset and
related arrangement (such as collateral posting
requirements) for financial instruments under an
enforceable master netting agreement or similar
arrangement.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised IFRSs
will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Sources of estimation uncertainty
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as
follows:

(a) Impairment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of an asset may not be recoverable,
the asset may be considered “impaired”
and an impairment loss may be recognised
in profit or loss. The carrying amounts of
assets are reviewed at least annually in
order to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of
the fair value less costs to sell and the value
in use. In determining the value in use,
expected cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to
level of sales volumes, sales revenue and
the amount of operating costs. The Group
uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections
of sales volumes, sales revenue and the
amount of operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Write-down of inventories

(c)

The Group determines the write-down
for obsolescence of inventories. These
estimates are made with reference to aged
inventories analyses, projections of expected
future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this
review, a write-down of inventories will
be made when the carrying amounts of
inventories decline below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in market
conditions, actual saleability of goods may
be different from estimation and profit or
loss could be affected by differences in this
estimation.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the relevant assets,
after taking into account the estimated
residual value, if any. The Group reviews
the estimated useful lives of the assets
annually in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded during
any reporting period. The useful lives are
based on the Group’s historical experience
with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The
depreciation expenses for future periods are
adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.

SR HE R G5 E)

HERAREEZRIR(E)

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(d) Income tax

Judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions and calculations for which
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Additional
provision is made in the consolidated
financial statements to cover the expected
outcome of the ultimate tax determination
to the extent that outcomes are likely
and reliable estimates can be made.
However, the final outcomes are subject
to uncertainties and resulting liabilities may
exceed provisions.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate,

business, commodity price and currency risks

arises in the normal course of the Group’s

business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the

financial risk management policies and practices

used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primary attributable
to trade and other receivables and deposits
with banks. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposure to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 5. BIXEKREEREALEE)

FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are
generally due within 10 to 30 days from
the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are overdue are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not collect collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 21% (2011: 14%) and 73%
(2011: 56%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with financial institutions
with sound credit rating. Given these high
credit ratings, management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group does not
provide any financial guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to ensure,
as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when
due, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following table show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group and
the Company can be required to pay:

The Group

At 31 December 2012

5. BiEREERANFEE)

(b) REBEEZEM(E)
TRFINAKERBERRBR TR
ROREZDRRARKRRZE
BAG DEXRASORURASR
B(EREBEANNKRFTEZ EBMNF
BI)ERAREERARR AN ZF
B8

REH

R=-F——-5+-A=+—~H

Total
Total carrying
Within 1 year undiscounted amount
or on demand cash flows at period end
—FRH AERRE R
BRER RERHE REAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBEFT AREFT
Trade and other payables RNEZRT R
H it fE B (101,123) (101,123) (101,123)
At 31 December 2011 R—E———F+-F=+—H
Total
Total carrying
Within 1 year undiscounted amount
or on demand cash flows at year end
—F A PR FR
BER e ARE#E
RMB’000 RMB$’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR 5K &
H At fEA IR (100,532) (100,532) (100,532)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 5. MBERAREERAFEE)
FAIR VALUES (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBESEME)
The Company VAN |
At 31 December 2012 N-_ZB——H+-H=+—H
Total
Total carrying
Within 1 year undiscounted amount
or on demand cash flows at year end
—FRH AERRE FX
BEXR RERHE IRE4AE
RMB’000 RMB$’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKEFT AR T

Other payables and accruals — E i & 78 &

TERRER (3,314) (3,314) (3,314)
At 31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H
Total
Total carrying
Within 1 year undiscounted amount
or on demand cash flows at year end
—FRY AEREE FXR
BRER mE R FRE4&E
RMB’000 RMB$’000 RMB’000

AEETT AE®TT ARETT

Other payables and H M e IR K
accruals HEER (2,863) (2,863) (2,863)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FH=ZEEPs
The Group does not have any interest RZE—=—F+ZA=+—HEKZ
bearing borrowings at 31 December 2012 T——F+HA=1+—8 " A5H
and 31 December 2011 that would expose WEAMNSASEAENERR 2
the Group to interest rate risk. FTREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 5. BIXEAREERALES)

FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Business risk

The Group’s purchases of raw materials
are primarily from several major suppliers.
The Group has a certain concentration of
business risk as 43% (2011: 61%) of the
total purchases were from the Group’s five
largest suppliers. If the Group could not
purchase adequate quantities of materials
from these suppliers and failed to identify
alternative sources, the Group’s turnover
and profitability could be adversely affected.

Commodity price risk

The major raw materials used in the
production of the Group’s products include
wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder.
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the
prices of wood pulp and titanium dioxide
powder which are influenced by global
as well as regional supply and demand
conditions. Fluctuations in the price of
wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder
could adversely affect the Group’s financial
performance. The Group historically has
not entered into any commodity derivative
instruments to hedge the potential
commodity price changes.

(d)

(e)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(f) Foreign currency risk

As most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi
and the Group conducts its business
transactions principally in Renminbi, the
exchange rate risk of the Group is not
significant and the Group does not employ
any financial instruments for hedging
purposes.

(g) Fair values
As stated in note 17, the balances with
subsidiaries are interest-free and have no
fixed repayment terms. Given these terms it
is not meaningful to disclose their fair values.

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and sale of decorative base paper
products and printing paper product in the PRC.
Turnover represents the sales value of goods sold
less returns, discounts and value added taxes
and other sales taxes, which may be analysed as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5. BiEREERANFEE)

(fH INERBE
HRAEB 2 AHBNEKEERE
BEAARBIIERRNER 2 EBR
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% o

(@) AVE
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6. EXH
AEBEERNFERERE R HERMR
MEMMHNRIBAERNER - EXHIE
EEEmEERMNRER - THEER
NEAMFER - HAIOMAT :

2012 2011

e —T——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AEEFT

Decorative base paper products  Z & R 4K E G 1,705,393 1,860,237
Printing paper product EN Rl A 4% £ 175,014 143,414
1,880,407 2,003,651
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

6. TURNOVER (Continued) 6. B B)
The Group’s customer base is diversified and REBZERBEDE N ——FWmes
no other single customers contributed 10% of — R (EAREBEWZFZ1I0% (T ——F :
the Group’s revenue in 2012 (2011: no other WieE —BEAEFETI I ZRLEARE
single customer with whom transactions have B EHBB10%) c ZEZEFPELZER{Z
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue). Details BEREBES - SRKIEES(@) ©

of concentrations of credit risk arising from this
customer are set out in note 5(a).

7. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET 7. HaphE R EA(EE) BRI
(LOSS)/GAIN SEE
2012 2011
—E—-F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥E T ARET T

Other revenue Hit gz
Bank interest income RITHEWA 2,182 3,131
Other HAith 39 36
2,221 3,167
Other net (loss)/gain Hth(&8B) wRFE
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE K& EEE
plant and equipment (12,608) —
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain  SMNE (E518 ), W25 % 58 (2) 18
(12,610) 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. KRBiAIEA
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BB AN B2 3% (BT A)
(crediting):
2012 2011
—E-—fF —EF——fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AEET T

(a) Staff costs (including (a) EIRA(BREESH:E)
directors’ remuneration) (Bt 11)
(note 11)
Contributions to defined BHFCRR BT B
contribution retirement plans 6,637 5,097
Salaries, wages and other e ITEREMET
benefits 61,954 50,081
68,591 55,178
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and BERF B AERE 25 TR A ROAHR - AR BB
regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiary BAR2EMT E BHA SR ERBEFURK
participates in a defined contribution retirement BAFE(TEE]) - Bk PEMEAR
benefit scheme (“the Scheme”) organised by the AIZAIRBE TN &% 218 E B KR
local authority whereby the PRC subsidiary is FHEIER R - MBUNEREETRIKES
required to make contributions to the Scheme NEEEARESEE -

at a fixed amount announced annually by the
municipal government. The municipal government
is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
and administrated by an independent trustee.
Under the MPF Scheme, both the Group and
the employees are required to make regular
contributions to the MPF Scheme. The Group
is required to contribute an amount equivalent
to 5% of the employees’ relevant income to the
MPF Scheme, subject to the maximum level of
relevant income of HK$20,000 per month up to
31 May 2012 and of HK$25,000 per month since
1 June 2012. Mandatory contributions to the MPF
Scheme are vested immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for
the payment of pension benefits associated with
the two schemes referred to above beyond the
contributions described above.

8. BRBiAIZAI #)

REERBE BRI RESETEEHIM
HEBABRBREREKIEANESRMHER
flt A AEeTE([RESFTE]) - 8FE
CEEMNEERASEBNEESHEE -
HEVEFEAER - BRERESFE - A
SERAEEEHYATHRRESTEIE
B AEERAFENHRERER
BEEBWRANSYSY  BEE-_T——-FH
A=+—HMA%20,0008TELR -
UWERBEZE—ZF - A—BRBHUASH
25,0008 LA LR - @B R EED
KRR FIMHRERES -

B £ At i AT B T eV B RN - R
BB EHE b EEZ R E R SRR E AR
REBAINEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. BFaEF &)
2012 2011
—B-=-F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr ARBTFT
(b) Other items (b) 1B
Amortisation of lease T ETER FRIEEE 5
prepayments 341 341
Amoritsation of prepayment for B st A S FE A SR OB 5
flood prevention expenses 850 850
Auditors’ remuneration ZERTN 2
— audit services — BERE
— current year — KFEE 2,300 1,904
— under-provision in prior — BEFERETE
year 800 497
Depreciation e 229,871 197,776
Impairment loss of property, M - WE KR EREERE
plant and equipment 12,608 —
Operating lease charges in BEHANKEHEER
respect of
— leasehold land and — HELH R
properties 9,199 6,523
— others — Hip 170 150
Sewage disposal expenses 58 438 438
Research and development It B A AN
costs 118 119
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FiBHIAX
(@ Taxation in the consolidated income () HEWRZRAHRES :
statement represents:
2012 2011
—B-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT
Current tax - PRC corporate HI#i%imE — B SEFFEH
income tax
Provision for the year REFIE 34,235 33,684
Under-provision in respect of BAEFERETR
the prior year 489 531
34,724 34,215
(i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of iy HREFRSHEMNIABREZHE

the Cayman Islands and British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI.

(IRBREZES DR R
AR AEBEEAMNRES R
ERRBREEENIMMAE
e

(i) No provision has been made for Hong (ii)
Kong Profits Tax as the Group did
not have assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year
(2011: Nil).

AR - oA E 3 1
B ] A B U L
SRBLUT - B LRI F
BHIHRRM(-T 7
") -

122 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited # E X £ =R ER A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

(i)

Shandong Qunxing Paper Limited
(“Shandong Qunxing”) is a foreign
investment enterprise and has been
granted certain tax relief whereby it
is fully exempted from PRC income
tax for the two years starting from 1
January 2007 to 31 December 2008,
followed by a 50% reduction in the
PRC income tax rate for the three
years from 1 January 2009 to 31
December 2011. The applicable tax
rate for Shandong Qunxing for the year
ended 31 December 2011 and 2012 is
12.5%and 25% respectively.

In addition, the Group would be subject
to withholding tax at the rate of 5% if
profits generated by Shandong Qunxing
after 31 December 2007 were to be
distributed. As Shandong Qunxing is
wholly owned by the Company, the
Company can control the payments
of dividends by Shandong Qunxing
and the Company’s directors have
confirmed that it is unlikely that
Shandong Qunxing will pay dividends in
the foreseeable future.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

9. FiB%iRX#®)
(@) (#&)

(iii)

IWRBEEREER AR (LK
HEDRIINELELEMET
MBER BREE_ZETLF
—A—BZ=_EZTN\F+=A
ST+ —HEMEHERRHNF
BFTER  UWERZZETNF
—HA—B&E=ZE——%+=A8
=+—H=FRHIE50% %
MEHMEOPBIMMEH o ILER
HERZZE——FRZZT—Z=
F+-_A=+—BHFEBERK
KD R AE12.5% K 25% °

gES - WILRBEERE - T T L
F+ZA=1+—BEBEKN
M FAD K - BIARSEEZA
FEUL IR K 5% AT
ERNARAEERAILRE
2 AN A EH] LR E 2R
NZlEE r MARRESFE
R IWRBEESKAREANR
AR AR,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FiE®HiE%E)
(o) Reconciliation between tax expense and b) REAMERFENFHERAZES
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: St FI B HTBE -
2012 2011
—E—_F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARET T

Profit before taxation I F5 B g A 109,977 256,183

Notional tax on profit before ¥R AR 8 B 2R A N P 3 R 75 3R

taxation, calculated at the FTERBRE AR T B ERIE

rates applicable to profit in

the countries concerned 29,561 65,277
Tax effect of tax concession MEEERRENT B2

period - (33,620)
Tax effect of non-deductible PRI A OB B2

expenses 4,801 2,310
Tax effect of non-taxable AR A RS 5 2

income (127) (283)
Under-provision in prior year BREFERETNR 489 531
Actual tax expenses ERHERAS 34,724 34,215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIVIDENDS

(a)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

10. RE

(@) ENFQRAEZHAAFERER

o

2012 2011
—E——fF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AEEFT
Interim dividend declared and 2 &k MR 2 & HIAR &
paid of HK Nil cents per BREBRZHEN
ordinary share (2011: Nil) —T——F &) - —
Final dividend proposed after RREHAREER IR 2 &5
the end of reporting period IR ST E AR 1.229 (L
of HK1.229 cents (equivalent (WHEERARE1S)
to approximately RMB1 (ZF—F : gREBAR
per ordinary share (2011: 3.380 781l - HIHEER
HK3.380 cents (equivalent AR#E2.798 %)
to approximately RMB2.798
cents, per ordinary share) 15,864 44,394
15,864 44,394
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+ - HA=+—HIFFE

10. DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year

10.

Hﬁ I%\ (/'Z‘/gig )

(b) ERALXAESEFEAL-FREF
ERAERE  ERFA#ERIKN

2012 2011
—E-CfF —EB——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr ARETFT
Final dividend in respect FABHERENEE=Z
of the year ended 31 — 4+ ZHA=1+—HIF
December 2011, approved B EiR B AR 8% 3.380
and paid during the year of BIL(HEER AR 2.798
HK3.380 cents (equivalent to DI ZE—TF : GREAE
RMB2.798 cents) per ordinary  f%8.633 &1l + 4948 E R A
share (2010: HK8.633 cents, R¥7.517 5 ) 2 EBERA AR
equivalent to approximately RE 277 RS
RMB7.517 cents, per ordinary
share) 44,394 119,252
Special dividend in respect of FRDHENRENEE-Z
the year ended 31 December ——F+_-_A=+—HIF
2011, approved and paid ERRREEREBRTE
of HK Nil cents per ordinary (= —Z4F : 3BNW(AEE
share (2010: HK3 cents, RARKE26125))
equivalent to RMB2.612
cents, per ordinary share) - 41,442
44,394 160,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EE@ S
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant BIBEESATHEME161 EFTIRENES
to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies e :

Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2012 BE=-ZE——-—+=-H=1+—HLEE

Basic

salaries,
allowances  Contributions
and other to retirement

Directors’ benefits benefit
fee in kind scheme Bonuses Total
EXFE.

RER  BAEW
Ezns  HAfEN SRR i /it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETFT  ARBTT ARRTZ  AREFT  ARKTR

Executive Directors #i7Ez

Dr. Zhu Yu Guo (Chairman) REEEL(ER) 586 185 - - m
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun RERLE 586 - - - 586
Mr. Sun Zhen Shui BRKkEE 293 - - - 293
Non-executive Director FUTES

Ms. Sun Rui Fang Barut 59 - - - 59

Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUEHTES

Mr. Zhao Wei el 107 - - - 107
Mr. Wang Lu I8%4 107 - - - 107
Mr. Kwwong Kwan Tong BRELE 195 - - - 195

1,933 185 - - 2,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011

11. EEM S (&)

BE-_FT—Ft-A=1tHRLFE

Basic

salaries,
allowances ~ Contributions
and other  to retirement

Directors’ benefits benefit
fee in kind scheme Bonuses Total
ErEe
BER  RIEN
B5He  EBER  HEAR izl At

RMB000  RMB'000  AMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ANERTL  ARETL  ARETL  AGETL  ABETL

Executive Directors HTES

Dr. Zhu Yu Guo (Chairman) REREL(ER) 596 - - - 59

Mr. Zhu Mo Qun AEHEE 596 - - - 596

Mr. Sun Zhen Shui RiRkEsE 298 - - - 298

Non-executive Director FurES

Mrs. Sun Rui Fang BEnat 60 - - - 60

Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BiF#iTEE

Mr. Zhao Wei HExE 102 - - - 102

Mr. Wang Lu I8%HE 102 - - - 102

Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong BEEEE 161 - - - 161
1,915 - - - 1,915

During the year, no amount was paid or payable
by the Group to the Directors or any of the five
highest paid individuals set out in note 12 below
as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a Director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

EAFE  AEESMECNHENESL
TXME12AAER&ESHMALHE
Al A LB ABR 5115 = N BB A SR B =X hn A
BREOESRIERRRME - EAFE - #
BV REAREENEXRREREEMA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12. EEHMA L
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest TEZsEeaTgMATHFE=2(2% ——
emoluments, three (2011: three) are Directors T ZZ)AES  BENES AN 11
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The IR - HRZ(—ZE—F : mE)A
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the +(BERE(ZE—F: ME)aRE
other two (2011: two) individuals, include two BE )N S EzE T

(2011: two) of senior management, are as follows:

2012 2011
—E——fF —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Salaries and other emoluments FehEMaie 1,150 1,253
Retirement scheme contributions Rk & 5T &4 22 20

1,172 1,273
The emoluments of the two individuals (2011: MAH(ZF——F : MB)RSFTMALH
two) with the highest emoluments are within the BN T A THE

following band:

Number of individuals

A8
2012 2011
—E—= —E2——%F
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 =72 1,000,0007%8 7T 2 2
The emoluments of the senior management of the AATIEREEE ZHMN FATEHE :

Company are within the following band:

Number of individuals
AE
2012 2011
—E-—fF —E——fF

Nil — HK$1,000,000 T ITE 1,000,000 7% 7T 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BEr—

13.

14.

—EF——Ff H=F—HIFE

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company includes a loss of
RMB24,470,000 for the year ended 31 December
2012 (2011: RMB13,420,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
share for the year ended 31 December 2012 is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB75,253,000
(2011: RMB221,968,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,586,391,450 ordinary shares
(2011: 1,5686,391,450) in issue during the year.

13.

14.

RARHERFAEARGRT

KRAREDREEABGEZRE N BEEER
—E——F+-_A=+—HILEEEBA
R¥624,470,000 T( =T ——F : AR

13,420,0007C) * WERAR B EHRE
NERIE o
BERER

HE_T——HF+-_A=1+—HLFE
BEREAREZAMNDBEARRL
i AR AR 3R FE 1508 T A R % 75,253,000
T(ZZE——F: AR%¥221,968,000

T)AKRRAFEEE BT BB ME
15 #01,586,391,450 (= & — — 4 :
1,586,391,450) &t HE - sFEARWT -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares T8 BT B hnAE S 15
2012 2011
—E-CF —T——F
’000 000
T TR
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January ~ ®W—A—HEZTLBER 1,586,391 1,057,594
Effect of share issued BREARBERTROZE
under open offer (note 1) (Hrat 1) - 528,797
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ - A=+—HAmtEFKRER
shares for the purpose of basic BT B AR A N Y9 2K
earnings per share
at 31 December 1,586,391 1,586,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

15.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

Notes:

1. On 10 January 2010, the Company issued
528,797,150 ordinary shares pursuant to the
open offer on the basis of one offer share for
every two shares held on the record date at a
subscription price of HK$0.66 per offer share. The
ordinary shares were issued for the purpose of
increasing general working capital for the Group.
The new shares rank pari passu with the existing
shares in all respects.

The computation of diluted earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011
does not assumed the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding warrants as the exercise of warrants
is anti-dilutive.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011 were the same as the
basic earnings per share.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group operates in a single business segment,
the manufacturing and trading of decorative base
paper products and printing paper product in
the PRC. The Group’s chief operating decision
maker regards and manages the Group based on
the information of this single business segment,
for the purposes of assessing performance
and making decisions about operating matters.
Accordingly, no segmental analysis is presented.
All of the Group’s revenues are generated in
the PRC and substantially all of the Group’s
assets are located in the PRC and therefore
no geographical segment information has been
disclosed.

14.

15.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

BRER &)
war

1. RZZE—ZF—-A+H ARFARE
AHABERREHBAHEFERR
HEE -—REERMOHEEEIT
528,797,150 R L@ - BEREFERH
HRIEER0.665T - HITLBEIRME
HREMASEEN—REEES - TR
NESTEEBERNEZE RS #EE

HERET——FR=-FT——F+=A
—+—HLFEZEREERFIRERHK
TERDE 2 MARITERRER - BITE
RBEZEEREEER -

BHE_2——FK_F——%+_H
=+ —HIEFESREERFEFGHRER
EFFEFE o

7R E
AEENEHESRE-XBEDE - AETR
B B85 K% $H K 5 R AR EE om I ENVR R AR EE
e ARETIERERREREE X1
DENENERREEAKE  SEHY
REFEEFTZERRAEHRE - Bt - &
SEYEZD AN - HRAKEZH
WARBFE - AR D& EITCIR
REIREA - U ARE L E R ER D §
B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BERRE
(@) The Group (a) A&£ME
Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold Plant and Motor and computer
Buildings improvements  machinery vehicles  equipment Total
il £ER

g7  EREE  ERRAS nE EERE aif
RVB0OO  AMBO00  RMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO
NERTTL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETL  ARETL  ARRTR

Cost: A
At 1 January 2011 RZF——
—A—H 601,326 289 1,901,285 2,515 6,338 2,511,753
Additions NE - - 891 = = 891
Transfer from construction ~ EEEEERIR
i progress fnote 18] (K3t 18) 119,870 ~ 254708 - _ 374668
Exchange adjustments AR - () - - ) (16)
At 31 December 2011 and ~ RZE——%
1 January 2012 TZA=+-Ak
:ﬂ —ﬁ 721,196 281 2,156,974 2,515 6,330 2,887,296
Additions e - 181 734 - 15 930
Transfer from construcion ~ EEFERTIR
in progress (note 18) (Hi18) 114,836 - 406,610 - - 521,446
Disposal e - (271) = = = (271)
Exchange adjustments B R A% - (1) = - @) (19
At 31 December 2012 RZE-Z%
+=B=1-H 836,032 180 2,564,318 2,515 6,337 3,409,382
Accumulated depreciation  Z3FHERAE :
and impairment:
At 1 January 2011 RZF—
—R-H 21,600 105 469,918 1,230 3,321 496,174
Charge for the year TEERE 14,524 93 182,506 198 455 197,776
At 31 December 2011 and R =F——%
1 January 2012 TZA=T-HR
:ﬂ —ﬁ 36,124 198 652,424 1,428 3,776 693,950
Charge for the year TERHE 17,647 83 211,516 197 428 229,871
Disposal e = (271) = = = (271)
Imparment HE 4,693 - 7,915 - - 12,608
At 31 December 2012 RZB-Z%
+=B=1-A 58,464 10 871,855 1,625 4,204 936,158
Net book value: FHFE:
At 31 December 2012 RZB-Z%
+=B=1-A 171,568 170 1,692,463 890 2,133 2,473,224
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%
T-A=1-H 685,072 83 1,504,550 1,087 2,554 2,193,346
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a)

The Group (Continued)
All of the Group’s buildings and plant and
machinery are located in the PRC.

Impairment loss

During the year ended 2012, an impairment
loss amounted to RMB12,608,000 was
made for a production line due to technical
obsolescence. The Group assessed the
recoverable amount of this production
line and as a result the remaining carrying
amount of the production line was written
down by RMB12,608,000 in the year ended
31 December 2012 (2011: Nil). The estimate
of recoverable amount was based on the
value in use of the production line to the
Group.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

16. ¥ - BEKRRE#)

(a)

M (&)
REBEAEFIAREE R #EH
R B o

1B A

BE_T——FIFE A5EHH
REMREMm A — £EZIERER
B AR #12,608,00070 © 7 £
IR EES2AIKE SR - Bt
ZEEFNRTEREERBEZS
——®+_A=Z+—HLFEM
A R® 12,608,000 (=& ——
F:F) o BETIKE SRR HIRE
SESEAEE 2 FREBEMERE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE—T——F+=—A=1—HIFE
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% BERRE )
(Continued
(b) The Company (b) AT
Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold and computer
improvements equipment Total
B HB
HELEE REWEE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2011 R_T——F
—H—H 289 554 843
Exchange adjustments bE 5, A% (8) (8) (16)
At 31 December 2011 and RZZ——4%F
1 January 2012 +ZA=+—Hk
—E-CF
—H—H 281 546 827
Additions INE 181 15 196
Disposals e 271) - 271)
Exchange adjustments BE 5 8 B (11) (8) (19)
At 31 December 2012 R-EBE——F
+=-A=+-8H 180 553 733
Accumulated RIE -
depreciation:
At 1 January 2011 RZE——%F
—H—H 105 390 495
Charge for the year REGHE 93 76 169
At 31 December 2011 and RZT——%F
1 January 2012 +ZA=+—Ak
—ET—_F
—H—H 198 466 664
Charge for the year REFHE 83 57 140
Disposals & 271) - 271)
At 31 December 2012 R=B—=F
+=A=+-A8 10 523 533
Net book value: REFE :
At 31 December 2012 R=B-—=F
+=ZA=+—H 170 30 200
At 31 December 2011 RZZT——%
+=—A=+—H 83 80 163
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. AH B A TR

The Company
/N
2012 2011
—E—C—F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT

Unlisted shares, at cost JE AR - BREKARE 996 996
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BB A Rl X I8 1,119,818 1,120,843

1,120,814 1,121,839

The amounts due from subsidiaries are EWMBARNRIBEREER  2ERE
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms BEERE - SR AERIHERRIAR
of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors, BreRHmERRETF T _EARESE -
the amounts due from subsidiaries will not be MR AR R NS RIERE

repaid within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and are, therefore, shown in the
statement of financial position as non-current.

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2012 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—HWEBRARAH
are set out below: FIEEYIAT
Place of
incorporation/  Particulars Percentage
establishment  of issued and of equity attributable
Name of company B AT fully paid up capital to the Company  Principal activities
AREMH L ERTRBRREFE FAREEREASL TEXK
Direct Indirect
=8 B3
Double Nation Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares 100 — Investment holding
(“Double Nation”) RERAHE of US$1 each REER
100 R BREE 1 ET 2 &}
&
Best Known Group Limited ~ Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares — 100  Investment holding
EREEERAR B of HK$1 each REER
100REREE BT ER
&
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

i E

17.

18.

—E——Ff - H=1—HIFE
INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17. AN AR RER (&)
Place of
incorporation/  Particulars Percentage
establishment of issued and of equity attributable
Name of company B A fully paid up capital to the Company  Principal activities
AREH B3 ERTRBRREFE FAREEREASL TEXK
Direct Indirect
I=¢; 4 5}
Shandong Qunxing Paper The PRC RMB1,294,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing decorative
Limited* ‘:F AEE1,294,000,000 7T base paper products and
WRHEAFBRAR printing paper product
HERHRAER
REVRIRAER
Zouping DaFa Trading The PRC RMB1,000,000 = 100 Purchase of raw materials
Company Limited i AR®1,000,0007 RERME
BEREBEERAR
Zouping DaTong Trading The PRC RMB1,000,000 — 100 Sales of decorative and
Limited* H AR 1,000,0007C printing paper
BYAREEERAA SHE R K R R AL
* These entities are wholly foreign owned ’ REHBRNTERLZINEBALX -
enterprises established in the PRC.
{m |
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 18. ERIRE
=
The Group AR
RMB’000
ABRETFIT
At 1 January 2011 R-_E——F—HF—H 253,878
Additions NE 572,282
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE  BERRE
(note 16) (Htet 16) (374,668)
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 W-_Z——%+_-_H=+—H
r—_=F——F—H—H 451,492
Additions NE 181,786
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE  BEREE
(note 16) (K1z£16) (521,446)
At 31 December 2012 R-B-—5+=-A=+—H 111,832

Construction in progress comprises costs
incurred on buildings and plant and machinery
and the cost of dismantling and removing trees
not yet completed at the end of the respective

reporting period.

ERTESENERERRERTHZE
TR PS N B EE A BB AN A K B R e B

BRI AREAR A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

19. LEASE PREPAYMENTS

19. HEFANARE

The Group TEE
RMB’000
ARET T
Cost: RN :
At 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011 and WRZZT—%—H—H -
31 December 2012 —T——%+-_A=+—H8BK
—E——&F+-_A=+—H 15,646
Accumulated amortisation: Zatey
At 1 January 2011 R=ZFE——F—H—H 1,178
Charge for the year RNEFEH 341
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 W-_Z——F+-_A=+—8}
—E——#H—HF—H 1,519
Charge for the year RNEFHH 341
At 31 December 2012 RZZE——F+=-A=+—H 1,860
Net book value: BREEE -
At 31 December 2012 R-ZE——H+=-HA=+—H 13,786
At 31 December 2011 R—E——F+=-A=+—H 14,127

Lease prepayments represent the cost of the land
use rights in the PRC which expire in 2053.

HEBRNFIEER —_Th=FFHn+
T IHOAE AR AR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

20. PREPAYMENTS FOR FLOOD 20.

PREVENTION EXPENSES

Prepayments amounting to RMB42,500,000 were
made on 11 June 2010, for the flood prevention
expenses charged for a period of 50 years up to
2059. Amortisation of the prepayment for flood
prevention expenses is being charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over 50 years.

BE B X A FR

R-Z—2EAA+—B - AEEHHH
B9 % 78 1 3 5 A R 42,500,000 7T -
RWEREMS0OFLR-BAAEER -
{3 B <2 8 47 50 48 BRI IR B A%
S AMES -

The Group KEE
RMB’000
AEEFT
Cost: RN
At 1 January 2011 R—E—F—H—H— 42,500
Addition =T —
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 R-_Z——F+—-_HA=+—HK
—ET——F+=-A=+—H 42,500
Addition NE —
At 31 December 2012 HN-E——®#+=-H=+—H 42,500
Accumulated amortisation: Rty -
At 1 January 2011 R—E—F—H—H 425
Charge for the year ANEF S 850
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 R-_Z——F+-_H=+—HxK
—E——F—H—H 1,275
Charge for the year INF S 850
At 31 December 2012 HN-E——®#+=-H=+—H 2,125
Net book value: BRTEFHE -
At 31 December 2012 R-—ZE——-—F+=-A=+-—H 40,375
At 31 December 2011 W_E——F+_HA=+—8H 41,225
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20. PREPAYMENTS FOR FLOOD

PREVENTION EXPENSES (Continued)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

20. FrftBA X RN FRIE (&)

2012 2011
B =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT ARBTFT
Current portion (included in BNERER (A (FH ATEAT RIE -
prepayments, deposits and e R H A WA ) (5520 B
other receivables as stated in FE 22 Fit)
note 22) 850 850
Non-current portion FEBNEAER 1 39,525 40,375
40,375 41,205

21. INVENTORIES 21. B

(@ Inventories in the consolidated statement of (@) SAMBRREANGTEEIRE
financial position comprise:

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-=-F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Raw materials and consumables R#1# & 8% 5@ 24,762 36,006
Finished goods BURK o 16,557 17,434
41,319 53,440
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories b) EEZTHEZAHINEFELES
recognised as an expense and included in T :
profit or loss is as follows:
2012 2011
= =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREF T
Carrying amount of inventories E&F&EKREE
sold 1,673,428 1,676,741
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

i E

22.

—E——Ff A=+ —HIFFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

22 BEREFRFAKREMEWKRRRE -

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS FARERES
The Group The Company
KEE ¥ /N
2012 2011 2012 2011
—_B-_F —=ZT——F B-—-_F —ZET—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFir AREFTr ARB¥FrT AREFIT
Trade receivables EUE SRR 53,999 72,258 - —
Prepayments, deposits ~ TE{I 3R 1E -
and other receivables e M EA
FEW IR 72,062 2,032 1,542 1,175
126,061 74,290 1,542 1,175

The amount of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables includes the current portion of
RMB850,000 (2011: RMB850,000) relating to
the prepayment for flood prevention expenses as
referred to in note 20.

Included in prepayment, deposits and other
receivables, deposits of approximately
RMB67,200,000 was paid to acquire plant and
machinery as at 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

All of the trade receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as an expense within
one year.

BARIE R REMERFEZSES
FE BT 5 20 B By 2k A 2 TR A SRIB B9 BN ER
=n 2 AR ¥ 850,000 L(—F——4F :
AR#850,0007T) °

N-ZTE——FE+=-A=+—08 - st AFEf
I Re REMBRKIEZ AR ¢ IR
£ #) AR ¥ 67,200,000 7T 2 X - AU EE
BEL#E(—E——F :T) o

T FEME 5 B SR TR — F o U o) =k e
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EWE 5 R K H Mt BRI
(Continued) (#&)
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRI
Included in trade and other receivables are BRI E I E 5 R 20 & b fE U 2k
trade receivables with the following ageing B EWZE SHBEBARE KRB
analysis as of the end of the reporting AT -
period:
The Group
REH
2012 2011
—®--F —_B——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

(b)

AR¥E T AEET T

Current Bl ER 53,999 72,258

Impairment of trade receivables (b) EWEZRIRE

Impairment losses in respect of trade EWE SEZRmMS - BEBE®E
receivables are recorded using an allowance FRBER T AR BRIEREER
account unless the Group is satisfied that MHERRBIWEZERER A TR
recovery of the amount is remote, in which K- BIBEENBEEEEEEZERE
case the impairment loss is written off W B 2R3 e (M EE 2(h) ) ©
against trade receivables directly (see note

2(h)(i)).

Receivables that were neither past due nor HmABEBISCREZERSIE T EE
impaired relate to a wide range of customers CEEHRE - T &R G
for whom there was no recent history of B o

default.

Receivables that were past due but not B @ HERBE EUGRIA T EE
impaired relate to a number of independent THRYRPAERR  HEAREH Z F
customers that have a good track record BREBRT e BBRBELR AR
with the Group. Based on past experience, EEEEEHEE W ARALEIEE AR
management believes that no impairment H B AHBEAARHWE @ HE
allowance is necessary in respect of these BEMREESELRERE A%
balances as there has not been a significant B AR A BRI ERETRR o

change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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BE—F——F+ - HA=+—HIFFE

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23. HENEHEZEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () BL2RBELEEVBIE:
The Group The Company
rEH PN
2012 2011 2012 2011

—B-—F —T——F =—ZB--—fF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT

Deposits with banks $E{T1FR 116,812 207,063 89,294 179,710
Cash at bank and RITRHEM R

other financial gz He Rk

institutions and FHEERS

cash in hand 422,723 281,871 42,755 18,889
Cash and cash MR RAIR

equivalents in e RESEE

the statement of )

financial position 539,535 488,934 132,049 198,599
Cash and cash mERERER

equivalents in MRe&kRE

the consolidated ZEM

statement of cash

flows 539,535 488,934
As at 31 December 2012, cash in hand R-ZBE——F+-A=+—H FHER:
and cash at banks in the PRC included REHRARFENRITEREE LTRBEE R
in the cash and cash equivalents above ReEEWHARMEE79,416,0007T(=
amounted to RMB379,416,000 (2011: T——F: AR®261,697,0007T) ° #
RMB261,697,000). Remittance of FIRRE A BIZEZ R BB AT TR INEE
funds out of the PRC is subject to the HIFTBR ©
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC
government.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. BHESRAREMBENSR
The Group The Company
REH ¥/

2012 2011 2012 2011

—EB——-&F —T——4F =—B--H -—T——fF

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000

AR¥TiT AREFT ARBEFT ARETT

Trade payables e E Z R 78,120 79,119 - —
Other payables and H b RS IR K&

accruals TEIEEH 23,003 21,413 3,314 2,863

101,123 100,532 3,314 2,863

Included in trade and other payables are trade

payables with the following ageing analysis as

of the end of the reporting period. The average
credit period granted by suppliers generally is not

more than 30 days.

BRAERNE SRR MR RFIET

MENE S

AR S ¥R & A R B ik 9 A7 40

T - ZHERARTHEERN -—RKRITEAB

30H -

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E——fF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AE#HT T
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 78,120 79,119

All of the trade and other payables are expected
to be settled within one year.

FrA RN B 2B H b e N SR IR TR AT
R—FRER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

25. CURRENT TAXATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

25.

BNHA%1E

(a)

RE PR R AR BRI

The Group
=EE
2012 2011
—B--F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AEHTF T
Provision for PRC income tax ~ ANFEE&HeMH RAEH
for the year 34,235 33,684
PRC income tax paid EHN R BEFTEH (34,235) (30,476)
— 3,208
Balance of PRC income tax BAEFEFBEMEHAAR
relating to prior years 9,868 9,868
Income tax payable FETFR1S R 9,868 13,076
Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) REAWELEHREEE
In accordance with the accounting policy B F200) AT 7 B @ 5T SR » A
set out in note 2(0), the Group has not EBEVER AN IBEIERRE
recognised deferred tax assets in respect EFLIE S E AR 12,508,000 7T
of cumulative tax losses of RMB12,508,000 (ZZE——4%: AR®12,506,000
(2011: RMB12,506,000) as it is not probable ) BREERABEHRE AR L
that future taxable profits against which the T B2 N K 0] B B A oK 2 E 2R B i )
losses can be utilised will be available in AAEEINERAEE - BRERITH
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The & BSERIERER o
tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (c) KRERANWELHEERS
At 31 December 2012, temporary RZE——F+=-_A=+—H' &

differences relating to the undistributed
profits of the PRC subsidiary amounted to
approximately RMB1,321,653,000 (2011:
RMB1,231,487,000). Deferred tax liabilities
of approximately RMB66,083,000 (2011:
RMB61,574,000) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits
as the Company controls the dividend policy
of this subsidiary and it has been determined
that it is probable that retained profits will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

26. EXR M

(a) MHEALH
AEEEAESEEE 2 FNRE
E B2 HERNG A RERBE
P o AR AR ESIAR ERE
P2 DRI

The Company b/ A7
Share Share Warrant Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
(e RihEE RARESEE k1 ZitBR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEEFT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFR
Balance at 1 January 2011 R=E——%-A-H
i 102427 1,365,811 - (190,427) (11,658 126,153
Loss for the year TEEER = = = = (13,420) (13,.420)
Other comprehensive loss for - AEE R 2 EEE
the year - - - (75,847) - (75,847)
Total comprehensive loss for ~ A% 2 B EAE
the year - - - (75,847) (13,420) (89,267)
Dividend declared and SRRIEL-ER
approved in respect of RE
the previous year - (160,694) - - - (160,694)
Share issued under open  REAFEERS
offer it 45,135 252,752 = = = 297,887
Share issued expenses RiEER = (3,755) - - - (3,755)
Issue of warrants RTAREE = = 8,589 = = 8,589
At 31 December 2011 R=B--%+27
Er=F 147,562 1,454,114 8,589 (266,274) (25,078) 1,318,913
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26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 26. EXRN#EE)
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) REREBEHEE(Z)
(Continued)
The Company (Continued) KANF(4E)
Share Share Warrant Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total

Bx  RftRR RBEIEE  EXRE  RER aif
RMB'000 ~ RMB'0O0 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARRTL  ARETr  ARRFT  ABRFr  ARETZ  ARETZ

Balance at 31 December RZE——%+_A
2011and 1 January 2012 =+-Bk

—Fw_ -
-
—% =

~ AR 147562 1,454,114 8580 (266274 (5078 1318913

Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - (24,470) (24,470)
Other comprehensive loss for - AEEE 2 R

the year - - - 1,242 - 1,242

Total comprehensive income ~ AEE 2ERE#AE

for the year = = . 120 (470) (2329)
Dividend declared and ERRMEL—ER

approved in respect of RE

the previous year - (44,394) - - - (44,394)
Lapse of warrants AREELY - - (8,589) - 8,589 -

At 31 December 2012 RZE-ZE+ZR
=+-A 141562 1409720 - [6503) (40959 1,251,201
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 26. ERXNFEA)
(b) Authorised and issued share capital (b) EERBBEITRA
At 31 December 2012 At 31 December 2011

R-B-=-f+=ZA=+-H RZT——F+A=1—8H

Number Number

of shares of shares

RGEE R E
’000 HK$’000 '000 HK$’000
FE FHET T FET

Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of FREEOA
HK$0.1 each VS TD R E A 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:

ERTRAREER
000
T
At 1 January 2011 WoE——fF—fA—H 1,057,594
Shares issued under open offer BIEARBERITRD
(note i) (Kreti) 528,797
At 31 December 2011, 1 January 2012 R—E——&E+=-A=+—8-
and 31 December 2012 —E——F-H-HBEK
—E——-&+=-A=+—H 1,586,391
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to LTERIFBEABRRKINTRHEIRA
receive dividends as declared from time to Hﬁ% TEERARR R LIRS
time and are entitled to one vote per share f—ZMELHIRE - AR R T
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary BEMS  FIEZTERYEARSE
shares rank equally with regard to the HoAL o

Company’s residual assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(i)

Share issued under open offer

On 10 January 2011, the Company
issued 528,797,150 ordinary shares
pursuant to the open offer on the basis
of one offer share for every two shares
held on the record date at a subscription
price of HK$0.66 per offer share
totaling HK$349,006,000 (equivalent to
RMB297,887,000). The ordinary shares
were issued for the purpose of increasing
general working capital for the Group. The
new shares rank pari passu with the existing
shares in all respects.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

In accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands, the share
premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. The share premium
may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares. During
the year ended 31 December 2012,
a final dividend of RMB44,394,000
(2011: RMB119,252,000) and a
special dividend of RMBNil (2011:
RMB41,442,000) in respect of the
previous year were paid out from the
share premium account.

Surplus reserves

Transfers from retained profits to
the surplus reserves were made in
accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s
subsidiary incorporated in the PRC
and were approved by its board of
directors.

(b) EZE
Hiat

U]

(c) &
(i)

(ii)
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26. EXNf#tE(#)

REBITRA(E)

BEAMBEERITRE
WR-_ZE——F—F+H  AQ7
BEAHBEZRNCHKAREE
RN ERE —RBEERG 2
EENUZRBESTREERD0.66
7B T 317 528,797,150 IR 3@ A%
W R 48 %8 349,006,000 7% 7T (1A %
N AR #297,887,0007T) © A&
BT E@EE . AEMAEEZ
—REBEES RMHERER
RESHBEEREHA

MHEREN

B 15wE
BIEFASHEQRE  BHHE
BERA DK FARARE
BREEREETRBEZHE - K
REBERASINERBTER
BEPIBAIIHEE - RH
mEBIAIABMRAER S XD
Ke BE2E_ZT——F+_A1
=t+—HLFE F—FEZ
1 ER AR B A R ¥ 44,394,000
T(ZE——F: ARK
119,252,000 7T ) & FFRIAZ 8 A
REZT(ZE——F: AR
¥ 41,442,000 70 ) B 15 &
BERFPIRST -

EEBERIRE
AREBEEREEETESRL M
EBRIARAR R AR B MK
YHMB AR AR EIZAA
1 B 77 W s B 1 OR E B AR
- WERSEFRSHE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
The PRC subsidiary is required to
appropriate 10% of its net profit, as
determined in accordance with the
PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to the surplus reserves until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a
dividend to shareholders.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside
the PRC which are dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy
as set out in note 2(r).

(iv) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2012, the aggregate
amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company, including the
distributable amounts disclosed in note
26(c)(i) was RMB1,368,761,000 (2011:
RMB1,429,036,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure on
the basis of gearing ratio, which is calculated
as the Group’s total bank borrowings over
the Group’s total assets. The Group has not
engaged in any bank borrowings as at 31
December 2012 and 31 December 2011.

Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

26. EXNf#tE(#)

(c)

(d)

RETEERBEN(E)
T EIFE A R AR B B & ET
58l KR AR 1 s KF R HY 10%
BEZEIFTRAREE B2
fii 16 BV 45 B 4 AR & AN |Y
50% &% IE » A& B 78 £ [ IR
gﬁﬁ%%mﬁﬂﬁm BRI

(iii) EZR#E
[E X R EmRERBEIRINE
75 B0 B 75 ¥k 1 EE £ RO PR [

SER - WARBRM G 2(r) P E
H SRR BRI ©

(iv) THEDREEE
W-_ZT——F+_-_A=+
H - Tﬁ”ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂ*a
BEANRFEERE BEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+ - HA=+—HIFFE

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating leases
At 31 December 2012, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

27. RERDIAREE
(a) KEHE
R-TE——F+-_A=+—H R
BAAIREEKEEHETBEEN
NREQCERERIBRRENT ¢

The Group The Company
rEH ¥ NN

2012 2011 2012 2011

—E2--F —ZT——F =ZB-=f —T——F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT

Within one year —FR 6,239 6,273 457 292
After one year but —FRERT

within five years HER 18,654 18,730 775 =

After five years k= 157,524 200,546 - —

182,417 225,549 1,232 292

The Group is the lessee in respect of
leasehold land and properties held under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial
period of two to fifty years, with an option
to renew the leases upon expiry when all
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments
for the leasehold land situated in PRC are
renegotiated every five years to reflect
market rentals. None of the lease includes
contingent rentals.

AEERAREHEPAEE LI
KPR ABA - ZFEHE R
FRA-_EATF UARNEEDH
o By 5 1R B TH W B R RE S PR A IR
e X EEE L HEERIA
BRESHER  URBRERHT
BHE - FTEHETERESAES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B R R R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F+—_HA=+—HIFFE

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 27. FERSRAEE &)

(Continued)
(b) Capital commitments (b) EARKIE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—HEX
December 2012 not provided for in the ENABXREGESHBRERIEL BE
consolidated financial statements were as BB ARAPELT ¢
follows:
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-—F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Contracted for BET4) 160,496 59,940
Authorised but not EEREERETA

contracted for - —

160,496 59,940
At 31 December 2012 and 31 December R-B——"F+-_A=t—HBRZ
2011, the Group was committed to certain T——F+ZA=+—8H ' x5&H
construction contracts for the acquisition of EEETHRERFEEERRETFTH
plant and machinery and buildings. BREL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(Continued)

(c) Environmental contingencies

To date, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure for environmental
remediation and is currently not involved in
any environmental remediation. As such,
the Group has not accrued any amounts
for environmental remediation relating to
its operations. Under existing legislation,
management believes that there are no
probable liabilities that could have a material
adverse effect on the financial position or
operating results of the Group. The PRC
government, however, has moved, and
may move further towards more rigorous
enforcement of applicable laws, and towards
the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Environmental liabilities are
subject to considerable uncertainties which
affect the Group’s ability to estimate the
ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These
uncertainties include (i) the exact nature and
extent of the contamination, (i) the extent
of required clean up efforts, (iii) varying
costs of alternative remediation strategies,
(iv) changes in environmental remediation
requirements and (v) the identification of new
remediation sites. The amount of such future
cost is indeterminable due to such factors
as the unknown magnitude of possible
contamination and the unknown timing and
extent of the corrective actions that may
be required. Accordingly, the outcome of
environmental liabilities under proposed
or future environmental legislation cannot
reasonably be estimated at present and
could be material.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by
the sole shareholder of the Company on 8
September 2007, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose
of enabling the Group to reward the employees,
the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. The Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from
adoption of such scheme and will expire on 7
September 2017.

27. RERBAREEBE(2)

(c) BRERBAEE
25 AEBYRAREEEMNE
BAEFMEALH  BRITES R
EARBEESH WU REE
o] B2 3 TS AR B M IR IR IS 1B RT IR (2 /]
TR ERITEMT BEEEMRGE
N2 B A (T {a] AT RE ¥ AN 5 B B 75 AR
MBI EEEEERXAETENEG
B A PEBIFELILH AL
E—PERERBRENBEREEK
RIBREZE - RRABHTET
EAERK - AJHEAREB(HTIRE
BERKKANEND - BETERA
=ZRENEBLEMEESRANE
BB MARE (i) FTH AR TIEA
R (i) SEMBIEERIAE ; (iv)
RIBBEEZRME(L  R(v)FER
TEEHRRISENE - AAA
BEE VS MR E AN BT B SRER A 4
MmN EEEANEESAER
REET AU EARET ARA AR
EWEEANSE  WEEEBA
BIBTEBIE T Ak 2R A IRIBR
EEAEAEVRERAERRIAN
BfE mMEBABARETIEKR-

28. RS
REARAERE-RRNR_FTLEFN
ANBRBH—AETBERZR - ARAK
M- AREBRER SI([FTE]) - UEARE
ErEsES  EFLHMKLkENS2RE
HASEELNERELEIE - 5HEINEK
METEI AR T ER—EER - TR
—ET—tFNALBEW-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their
discretion grant options to:

(a)

any employee (whether full-time or part-
time, including any executive Director but
excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity in which the Group holds an
equity interest (“Invested Entity”) (“Eligible
Employee”);

any non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or
business development of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

any other Group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement and growth of
the Group.

For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may
be granted to any company wholly-owned by one
or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants.

A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—_F—_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

Bt E )

R EEFTRBERLIBRET T
SIATL

() ARR - HAEAKMEARNAEE

FLETEIME

FARAEanEMER(TER
£ EmEE (TmE Rk
BREJTEFETBEEMIERT
E5)((6EBEER])

ARAR -~ EAE(HE R R S
EEBNEMFRTES(BREBEL
FRITESR)

FASEERKE QR HERMEER
E%hﬁf%i%ﬁm&ﬂﬁﬁ

U% ﬂ‘

% B EMIEEENEMNR

AR ESAEREE BERIEHA
7 RS E R SR R E AT A
TRER

AEBEFAKRERARKEMEIEER
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A EMEEERD HITHNEME
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A& B AT E B B8 E( X 15
BEIEHERNBER (FXNEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a7 R R P R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br—F—_—Ff_H=1—HIFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 28. BBIREEEI(&)

An option may be accepted by a participant within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
option, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 per option. The maximum number of
the Company’s shares (“Share(s)”) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company on the date of listing (exclusive
of shares issued upon the exercise of the
overallotment option). The limit may be refreshed
at any time provided that the new limit must
not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of
the shareholders’ approval of the refreshed limit
in general meeting. However, the total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other
scheme of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of Shares in issue from time to time.
The maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
Shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company has been obtained in accordance with
the Listing Rules. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent nonexecutive
Directors representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
Shares in issue, and in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the shareholders
of the Company.

Options may be exercised at any time from
the date of grant of the options to the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof.

SEEAREHBREZA B BARE21
BA - RERNEHERERBXREE
TR IRE - RIRETEIFIRER H VR
REFMSROARRRG(RDD&ES
HH  #TIESEARARARLMERDE
FTRRANHY 10% (B 38 R 171 8 B8 Ac AR &
MEEITRRRD )  Z LR A RMERIEEE T
IAE R - (B3 ERA RS EBBIRRLR
RAS LHEFH EREBARRSET
ARAEI10% © AT - RITEM B REET
SIA R AR MR H A ET 81 B8 m R 1T
FRBRER TRITHRMOEE - &1
SHATRDEITRHA30% o REM
+ & A BRI RME A A T FTIX  B9 BB AR
FIskaIRmHEx=8E @ TNMEHBEZT=
EAHERE—BEETRMO1% B
FEEAR R RIRFIREE ETARAELBE -
MEERRIBIIFATEFTKENER
7 WERBBEETRMA0.1%kiEE
3% 5,000,000/8 7T + B MBEAR R RIRE
HhEHE -

BRETNELEREE R EROBHT
BERERBEITE A RIEARREAR
LEEV IR T AR LE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant,
which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

No option has been granted by the Company
under the Scheme since its date of adoption.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31 December 2012 and
2011, transactions with the following party are
considered to be related party transactions:

Name of related party  Relationship

Shandong Changxing Effectively 55% owned by Dr. Zhu
Group Limited (“SD Yu Guo, 30% by Mr. Zhu Mo Qun
Changxing”) * and 15% by Ms. Sun Rui Fang, the

Directors

The English translation of the company name
is for reference only. The official name of this
company is in Chinese.

(a) Recurring transaction

28.

29.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2012
Br_F—_—Ff_H=+—HIFEF

BRES 82
BRESZSE AR ARRAR DB
BELMSIRAESN - REBEEAE - RITE
FEAHER) - ZBBEMERS AN RIEH
RIEHIRS] - ITEBREFER] - LA
PRTIENERE  ((\RREBRHEH
(LAREER )BT B ®mMR IR
W TIE : () BERROBAE B
R AR5 B R A& B ®aR Ao e i ¥
BYTHE ¢ K (i) RO EE

RN ] B R4 1% BRI KR A 815
o AR

EXBERRS
BE_ZT——_k-_FT——%+_H
=+H—HLEFEAR  BTIETETHR
HWERETRS
BEREH B
WRRESEARAR ESAEEEL REHLE

([UERE])* REGE T ARIEEHER
55% » 30% J 15% ##

ZAFZPXEWBENLNRE - HXA
HEHRZE -

(a) BEURZS

2012 2011
—B-=F —ET——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AEEFT
Lease of leasehold land and MUT—HFEBEEL R
properties from: M -
— SD Changxing — IRRE 2,270 2,270

The Directors are of the opinion that
the above related party transaction was
conducted on normal commercial terms and
in the ordinary course of business.

FERB - CRMES R P HEE
—REE R B BB BIEE
17 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
HE_FT—_F1T-A=1T—HUFE

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel

remuneration

Remuneration for key management
personnel of the Group, including amounts
paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 11 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note
12, is as follows:

29.

BEXBEIRS#)
(b) ETEETASHS

RAEEFTZEREABNME(BHERD
NARREZEETHME(RME11) R
EffETESFMESENME (R
FE12)8T

The Group
rEH
2012 2011
—E——fF —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T

Short-term employee benefits R EIEEEF

Contribution to defined TR IUR
contribution retirement plans

Tt Ef

3,351 3,652

K
24 58
3,375 3,607

Total remuneration is included in “staff cost”
(see note 8(a)).

30. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There are no significant events for the Group after
the reporting period.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group and the
Company had no material contingent liabilities.

32. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 18 March 2013.

30.

31.

32.

e @Rt ATBEITAA I(RFES@) °

BREHREE

REHR - AEBYBEFAEANEER ©
HAREE
RZE—Z—F+ZA=+—H xE£EK
ARPBEBEANLARAE -

RE VBRI

ErxegNE—=FE=A+/\B#t%A
RIETBREETE®RE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEHBERE

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
ETRMBLR

As at or for the year ended 31 December

Rt-A=t-AREEZALEE

Note 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
i —TENF —TTAF —T-TF —T——F CZB-C-F
Profit ability ratios BN E
Gross profit margin EM=E 1 27.1% 27.8% 25.2% 16.3% 11.0%
Net profit margin Fm & 2 25.6% 21.2% 19.3% 11.1% 4.0%
Return on assets BERRE 3 14.3% 12.8% 13.4% 6.7% 2.2%
Return on equity TS 4 17.2% 13.2% 14.0% 6.9% 2.3%
Liquidity ratios nEBESE
Current ratio BN & 5 3.7 10.1 5.5 5.4 6.4
Quick ratio RE)L & 6 3.6 9.7 5.1 5.0 6.0
Gearing ratio BEAREE 7 4.6% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Inventory turnover days ~ FEREEXE 8 18 16 15 15 13
Debtors’ turnover days  FEMBRZUEE K& 9 9 7 17 13 10
Creditors’ turnover days ~ ENEFBEXH 10 37 20 23 23 24
Notes: Bt

1.

Gross profit margin is calculated based on the gross
profit divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.

EFELAEFIBR A E R 100% 51 E o

2. Net profit margin is calculated based on the profit for 2. Fim A AR MR LA SRR A 100%
the year divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%. ETHE o

3.  Return on assets is calculated based on the profit for 3. EBEBBREURNFEEGNGRAFREEMLEBETE
the year divided by the total assets at the end of the LA100% &1 & ©
year and multiplied by 100%.

4.  Return on equity is calculated based on the profit for 4., FEROMRURERDRFBRAERE R REE
the year divided by capital and reserves at the end the FeLA100% 5T E ©
year and multiplied by 100%.

5. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current 5. ROLRURDEELERINFRABAGBER
assets divided by the total current liabilities at the end BatE -
of the year.

6. Quick ratio is calculated based on the difference 6. RBEEURDEELEBERFTE ZEZRBRUSE
between the total current assets and the inventories RnBBEBERERE -
divided by the total current liabilities at the end of the
year.

7.  Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total bank 7. EEABRLEURITEELHERIAZERESR
borrowings divided by total assets and multiplied 100%. A100% &t & o

8.  Inventory turnover days is calculated based on the 8. HFEAERHUFKFERUARFEERELS
inventory at the end of the year divided by the total FUARFEARSGE -
purchases during the year and multiplied by the number
of days during the year.

9. Debtors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade 9. RUBRFRAERHIAFREKE SRR AR
receivables at the end of the year divided by turnover FEEEBRUAFEARESGE ©
during the year and multiplied by the number of days
during the year.

10. Creditors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade 10. ETERFUAERXEAF RENE SRR AR

payables at the end of the year divided by the total
purchases during the year and multiplied by the number
of days during the year.

FERBEBERARFEAREGE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEHBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—EE\E _TTNF —T-FF _T——F ZB-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ANRETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AR%EFn

CONSOLIDATED INCOME  #&k#%

STATEMENT
Turnover E 1,496,360 1,530,321 2,058,916 2,003,651 1,880,407
Cost of sales HERK (1,090,844) (1,105,517) (1,589,131) (1,676,741) (1,673,428)
Gross profit E| 405,516 424,804 519,785 326,910 206,979
Other revenue Hios 41,503 4,371 2,212 3,167 2,221
Other net (loss)/gain Hiv (B8) 58 (2,441) (62) (189) 18 (12,610)
Selling expenses HERY (15,896) (19,233) (26,426) (25,494) (28,272)
Administrative expenses TBHEX (32,001) (34,018) (39,409) (48,418) (58,341)
Profit from operations RE BT 396,681 375,862 455,973 256,183 109,977
Finance costs BEMRA (13,320) (4,168) = = -
Profit before taxation BREE AR 383,361 371,694 455,973 256,183 109,977
Income tax expense FEHRAX - (47,607) (58,467) (34,215) (34,724)
Profit for the year FERA 383,361 324,087 397,506 221,968 75,253
Earnings per share ZREF

Basic (RMB cents) ER(AR%D) 37 31 38 14 5
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEHBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t-HLEE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—EE\E _TTNF —T-TF _T——F ZB-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AR%EFn

CONSOLIDATED FABBMRREK
STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% « B R 2% 561,146 1,365,520 2,015,579 2,193,346 2,473,224
Construction in progress EEIR 316,060 296,911 253,878 451,492 111,832
Lease prepayments MEBRRE 15,150 14,809 14,468 14,127 13,786
Prepayment for the acquisition & B BE & Rk & T8 1F 208
of plant and equipment 110,880 60,780 24,029 — -
Prepayment for flood BRI B AR
prevention expenses — — 41,225 40,375 39,525
1,003,236 1,738,020 2,349,179 2,699,340 2,638,367
Current assets REBEE
Trading securities R 55 64,753 - - - -
Inventories FE 43,622 37,334 48,962 53,440 41,319
Trade and other receivables Y E FER R
Hit W TIR 38,844 72,407 111,288 74,290 126,061
Cash and cash equivalents ~ BH&RIEEZED 1,539,373 682,764 447,763 488,934 539,535
1,686,592 792,505 608,013 616,664 706,915
Current liabilities REAE
Bank loans RITER 124,000 - - - -
Trade and other payables BB S8R R
Hit AT 5R 320,753 58,000 87,040 100,532 101,123
Current taxation BNERTR 1 9,868 20,216 22,708 13,076 9,868

454,621 78,216 109,748 113,608 110,991
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—EE\E _TTNF —T-FF _T——F ZB-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ANRETFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AR%EFn

Netourentassets  EREFE 1201971 714280 496265 50005 595,024
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,235,207 2,452,309 2,847,444 3,202,396 3,234,291
Capital and reserves EXRGE

Share capital B 100,258 100,258 102,427 147,562 147,562
Reserves 1 2,134,949 2,352,051 2,745,017 3,054,834 3,086,729
TOTAL EQUITY EmaE 2,235,207 2,452,309 2,847,444 3,202,396 3,234,291
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